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>>Committee commenced at 9:00

Chairperson (Ms. Angnakak): Good
morning. Thank you for joining us today.
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My name is Pat Angnakak. | represent
the riding of Igaluit-Niaqunnguu, and I’ll
be chairing this meeting today.

Before proceeding, | ask all Members,
witnesses, and visitors to place their
cellphones, BlackBerrys, and any other
electronic device on silent mode.

I almost forgot a very important thing,
and that is, before we proceed any more,
Mr. Enook, would you say the prayer for
us.

>>Prayer

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Enook.
Number 2 on our agenda is the review
and adoption of the agenda. Agreed?

Some Members: Agreed.

Chairperson: Thank you. Let me begin
again. | would like to formally welcome
everyone present to this meeting of the
Legislative Assembly Standing
Committee on Oversight of Government
Operations and Public Accounts.

We are meeting today on the occasion of
our Standing Committee’s televised
hearings on the most recent annual report
of the Languages Commissioner of
Nunavut.

I would first like to introduce my
Standing Committee colleagues:

e Tony Akoak, Member for Gjoa
Haven;

e Joe Enook, Member for Tununig;

e David Joanasie, Member for South
Baffin;
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e Pauloosie Keyootak, Member for
Ugqummiut;

e Steve Mapsalak, Member for Aivilik;

e Simeon Mikkungwak, Member for
Baker Lake;

e Allan Rumbolt, Member for Hudson
Bay;

e Alexander Sammurtok, Member for
Rankin Inlet South; and

e Tom Sammurtok, Member for Rankin
Inlet North-Chesterfield Inlet.

The terms of reference for this Standing
Committee include the mandate to review
the reports of the Languages
Commissioner of Nunavut.

Ms. Sandra Inutiq assumed her duties as
the Languages Commissioner of Nunavut
on January 14, 2013. This is Ms. Inutig’s
third appearance before a Standing
Committee of the Legislative Assembly,
and I would like to welcome her and her
staff.

The Languages Commissioner’s
responsibilities are established by two
pieces of territorial legislation: the
Official Languages Act and the Inuit
Language Protection Act, both of which
were passed in 2008 by the Second
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut.
Nunavut’s new Official Languages Act
came into force on April 1, 2013 while
the Inuit Language Protection Act has
been coming into force in stages.

The Languages Commissioner of
Nunavut has three main areas of
responsibility: the investigation and
resolution of concerns relating to
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language rights, to provide guidance and
support to various bodies and institutions
on their obligations and duties with
respect to language rights, and the
administration of her office.

As | mentioned, Ms. Inutig has
previously appeared before a Standing
Committee during her term of office. On
April 16 and 17, 2014, that Standing
Committee reviewed the 2011-12 Annual
Report of the Office of the Languages
Commissioner and presented its own
report on that review to the Legislative
Assembly in May of 2013. On September
22, 2014, the Standing Committee
reviewed the Languages Commissioner’s
2012-13 annual report and [presented] its
own report on that review to the
Legislative Assembly in October of 2014.

The Languages Commissioner’s annual
report for 2014-15 was tabled in the
House last month on November 9, 2015.
The Standing Committee is pleased to
have the opportunity today to discuss
issues relating to the Office of the
Languages Commissioner’s mandate and
its responsibilities and activities over this
period, as well as Ms. Inutiq’s future
plans for its activities.

I am pleased to take this opportunity to
note that the Standing Committee’s
recommendations from its review of the
Languages Commissioner’s 2012-13
annual report have been taken into
consideration in her 2014-15 annual
report. Committee Members
acknowledge the Office of the Languages
Commissioner’s effort to provide a
greater level of detail and analysis
concerning the office’s activities and
initiatives over this period than was
contained in previous annual reports.
The information provided enhances the
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transparency and accountability expected
of all public office-holders.

In keeping with parliamentary practice,
the Standing Committee anticipates
reporting its findings and
recommendations to the Legislative
Assembly during the upcoming [winter]
sitting. Under Rule 91(5) of the Rules of
the Legislative Assembly, the
government will be required to table a
formal response to our report within 120
days of its presentation.

I would like to conclude by addressing
some housekeeping matters.

This hearing is being televised live across
Nunavut on local community cable
stations and direct-to-home satellite
service. Transcripts of the hearing will be
posted on the Legislative Assembly’s
website.

For the benefit of our recording system, |
ask witnesses to wait until I invite you to
speak before activating your microphone.

I also ask witnesses to always go through
the Chair when responding to Members’
questions and interventions.

Members of the Standing Committee
have been provided with a number of
reports and other documents for their
ease of reference during this hearing. For
the benefit of our witnesses and
interpreters, |1 ask Members to be precise
when quoting from or making reference
to specific documents.

With that, I will again welcome today’s
witnesses to this hearing. Please proceed
with the opening comments on behalf of
the Languages Commissioner.

Thank you. Ms. Inutiq.
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Ms Inutiq (interpretation): Thank you.
Good afternoon, Members. Let me first
introduce the witness with me, Karliin
Aariak, an Inuit language investigator.

Thank you for giving me the opportunity
to stand before you as we review the
2013-14 Annual Report of the Languages
Commissioner of Nunavut.

I had planned to discuss the activities and
mandate of my office, but the
Chairperson already covered those and so
I will skip that part for now.

I will then outline some of the key
activities conducted by our office in
2013-14.

During the 2013-14 year, the Office of
the Languages Commissioner
experienced staff shortages. As you
know, staff vacancies can cause a serious
impact on an organization’s capacity and
the fulfillment of its mandate. Despite
capacity issues faced, the Office of the
Languages Commissioner was able to
continue to make progress in the
following key activities:

e areview of six concerns from the
public;

e organized a drawing contest that
resulted in a poster for language
weeks;

e created a private sector survey;

e co-releasing with the Nunavut
District Education Authorities and the
Department of Education a
documentary called “Millie’s Dream”
about Millie Kuliktana’s work to
revitalize Inuinnagtun;
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e participated in the public consultation
for Nunavut on the implementation of
the Official Languages Act for the
French language; and

e meetings with languages stakeholders
took place.

During 2013-14, there were six language
concerns raised. Five of these concerns
were admissible. Of the admissible
concerns raised, the vast majority were
related to the availability of information
in both written and spoken forms by
territorial institutions to the public or to
the public service. The inadmissible
concern was related to municipality
services that do not fall under the Official
Languages Act. That was one
inadmissible concern.

In this annual report, we have included
separate sections on both the private
sector and the systemic investigation to
provide a more detailed update on these
areas. It is the view of the Office of the
Languages Commissioner that a coming
into force date for the provisions related
to the private sector should be set. This
will continue the momentum towards
achieving equality amongst the official
languages.

To provide an update on the systemic
investigation on the Qikiqtani General
Hospital, the Office of the Languages
Commissioner finalized a report on the
systemic investigation and provided it to
the Department of Health. A summary
and recommendations will be included in
the 2014-15 annual report and the report
itself will be tabled along with the annual
report.

In this annual report, there are five
recommendations put forward by the
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Office of the Languages Commissioner.
These relate to the need to provide clarity
around expected language services and
communications from municipalities,
more language supports available for the
private sector, including an accredited
translation bureau and programs to
support the pharmaceutical industry, as
well as the coming into force of the
sections related to the private sector. It is
also our observation that it is important
that there be awareness raised about the
role of the Inuit Ugausinginnik
Taiguusiliugtiit.

In closing, | thank you for providing me
with the opportunity to outline some of
the key activities of the Office of the
Languages Commissioner. | look forward
to discussing this annual report with you
today. Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Are there any questions on
Ms. Inutig’s opening comments? Mr.
Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Good
morning, Ms. Inutiq and your official,
Ms. Aariak. Welcome to the Assembly.

I have a question on your opening
comments. You stated that “a coming
into force date for the provisions related
to the private sector should be set.” I’ll
speak in English. Can you (interpretation
ends) realistically (interpretation) tell us
when this can be set up? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): We have
stated here that we want the Act to be
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implemented. We did the investigation on
the private sector to see if the private
sector is ready because we have been
planning for the past three years and
letting them know that they’re going to
have to follow this Act when it’s
implemented to provide services in
Inuktut.

For the past three years, we have been
notifying them. We actually started in
2009 to 2013 and we had a staff member
doing that for us. The staff member
would call these private businesses and
also keep them informed by mail via the
post office of the fact that our office is
available and if they have any questions,
they can ask our office. These are the
laws that are going to have to be followed
from now on. Our staff members sent
three mailings to private businesses
explaining that.

There were 550 businesses in 2011 and
2012 that were sent notices to help them
understand what the law will mean.
Forty-one businesses contacted us to ask
questions in 2013 in regard to the
information we sent out. We have done a
lot of work in planning and we also
investigated by giving out 100
questionnaires, to which we have
received 17 responses. We have them
here in the report. In the responses, they
said that they were aware of what
obligations they would have under the
new law. Once it is implemented, | think
it should run smoothly.

Some people are resistant to it. Quebec
went through the same thing when they
had to put up a lot of French words and
signs, and similar things. There was a lot
of resistance to the language rights and
we saw the same thing here. That’s my
response. Thank you, Madam
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Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you. You talk about the resistance and
people who don’t want it. Would you be
able to order them to comply? Can the
government order them to follow the new
laws if they don’t want to follow it?

Ever since Nunavut was created, English
has always had a stronger presence than
our language, even in the workplace.
Whether it is government or a private
business, the Inuktitut language and the
other official languages should be able to
be used. How will you achieve this if
businesses don’t want to follow it or they
don’t realistically try to follow it? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Under the
Act, there is a reference to an
implementation plan. This is a way that
private businesses can slowly develop,
following a plan that we have put
together with them. There is a process
that they have to follow.

We have also made information available
on a recording or people can call the
phone number for the information. We
send all the correspondence to
everybody. They can give us their plan
and we can translate it for them. We can
work with them if they can’t implement it
on their own right away.

For those businesses that are resistant to
it, we will have to investigate them and
find a way for them to become compliant.

AbYD>Csb,

AbYRU>CSe: sdhbeal®, ™ ABN%, MC <<ar.

ddar: sd-eal®, <L Ca DSbDZAGCSADY
AS 5 AJLM AL, SboScP<%® Asdyse
NevPornod ASD NeJ®aGheAlDe DR 5 gC
LLYC NPADLYebE, AS 5 CLbd<

QT obeIAC PONPSNC LedLeo™M<<C.

Acb, Coa A5 0a D€ NPPCHc P L o€
D>SbP>/DC ShecGRC>ISHLIAQ QLLC

N Pon < P*a G oOd%CN o

ASPba AYSAT H5%GC LRLD<E allonb><<C
A0NDC 4P*Ne 5 CAPI AchnyD>PLLC
D>bP>IC IDPC>Y*a n.9bG <N HNE,
CAPI<c Sbo%™ AcndnyDLYe<LE
LcLA*PeDC PRRHAGC PN Sghq [,
ACYRP>CSS,

AbYRPBCSL: sdheal™, MC <dar. M AN,

AodNse: LalP< Abdo <"alPNo®
Jdo/J*a o T ACHLE Ac™MC
Lcb>NNLea b PLC Ac

<D *NNb>NNY*a Gy *MLC Lcboo*
<'aPNo® 4 h“N* 0 Jdod<*a*LC.

ALAC*La o <dDJC <SaPLLJC DSbc >NC
T ACD®ILL PPLSHCCSa<seIse, Py
DS <L NN®HAC AocLo™USbeC®Ie > 5
DIl AobD*Lc®NEDCDC CALADG®

Do NCSLE AN ot <SaP>Na®

<D NENb>IP QM ed NP,

PP<do Cbdd ASLoSbsedasMedC sh>pNT 5NJC
PP<o DLy LE <L NeDnoNJS G%PJNo®
LRLPd® CALAC*LNSBECSNJ-.
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If we are told about a private business
that is not complying with the Official
Languages Act, we would have to
investigate that business and inform them
of their obligations under the Act.

That is the way the Act is set up. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie, will you be
asking another question? Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. | would like to
ask a question on an issue that is not
included in your report, but it’s a matter |
would like clarification on. I recall the
Languages Commissioner once wrote
correspondence to our Premier. | believe
that was a little over a year ago. |1 would
like to ask: did you ever receive a
response from the Premier? That will be
my final question. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Joanasie.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): No. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq.
(interpretation) Are you done? Mr.
Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. | wish to welcome the
Languages Commissioner and her
official. First of all, I would like to ask
for clarification on her opening
comments. In the last paragraph on the
first page, it reads in English,
(interpretation ends) “The inadmissible
concern was related to municipality
services that do not fall under the Official

CALAC*ULC L*a DSbPryP>JcC
AMNCNLYNOC PShD>ISab
AcSALYDILIOC SO>S HC. Sb>ANAPCC
NcD>AcSHC ALY Gpe/LcN<nsb®Dy
AMNNLSo <P <AL LcUAS A<aOa®
LcCN<So<PhY. CAL <Gops?Lse LcLse,
sgyeal™, Ab/RPCS,

Ab/U>CSe: sdheal®, M AdN%, C <<lar
JIANb* oo ®epPe? MC ar

<dar: Sdyeal®, AYU>C®,
CRE* D PLod® PYda
DP/P<IPLIAYa A %5 ASbDLLL C*a blPa
D>sbD>Ycno I NNGP>e/LL N Hd

Y2 C®NNLCNe0¢ 1Sab c P a.
AANRLYS: PD*<No® AcDse/LeosL e
YDC®NM? Coa PYc®<ncsod. Sdyeal®,
NN

Ab/RP>CSe (ONMNUO): Sdyal™, MC <<ard.
ABN®,

ABNSe: G, sdyal®, AbY/QPCSe,

Ab/PCSe OLNNJO): Sg*al™, ™ AoNse,
(ORNNNJPGeD5e) CALSPC? C MPey<se,

FPeJst: |'a “5<é\b, Ab/RPCShI5,
DA > b o> DSHhPHACN oSS
Lo ASba AY®eN*L. Cta HADcsb<sb
DPHAPP<PNNYS CtRo PPdAPN o LPAlo
Ceaq Sdec<*Lo, Coa PR <, Sb<oadC
NN®PA PG, (DNMNJO)
“NSbPSOC L 4D AL HCHNC 1o ¢
HYLL DNOC ANYSSTSTC AchnbDPLC
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Languages Act.”

(interpretation) What | would like to have
further explained is: as the Languages
Commissioner for all of Nunavut, you
deemed a municipal issue that was raised
as a concern inadmissible. It was ruled
not to be a languages issue. Can you give
a more detailed explanation? Do all
municipalities in Nunavut fully
understand what is and what is not
covered under the Languages Act? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): This concern
was raised by an individual who was not
receiving proper services in English and
reported it to our office. Under the Act,
we do not have the mandate to deal with
English language services in the
municipalities. We do have the mandate
to deal with Inuktitut services in hamlets
under the Inuit Language Protection Act,
but with regard to English language
services, we do not have that authority.

As for the requirement to provide English
language services, I’ll explain it in
English. (interpretation ends) If it is
deemed that there is a significant demand
under the Official Languages Act, the
Minister of Languages is supposed to
pass a regulation deeming that there is a
significant demand in a community for
languages of English and French.

Until there’s a regulation identifying that
a community has to provide services in
English or French, we don’t have the
jurisdiction to investigate concerns with
municipalities in those languages. Right
now, the only obligation to provide
services is for municipalities under the

D> o Ll ACad®a **NedC”

OLANJReG®D%) Clta. DP/JPNNLS
D>bD>Ycnos I bMiYabN“ONE oaPcll
CLbdd 0a 2 OC pacC C*a oac™L
oacPI® NNS>IA/LYAS ACLSNPYDse
NePCP>odest DSb>rcnos ¢ eIl b LLE,
Cta. DSbP>INP<bbeo D H<P o <L
0a.cPCC 0a 2T IPYDLLOCSDLE Ao
DSb>YcnosC <DL L LC ASIY Lo ? La
AbP L,

AbYRDCSL: sdbeql™, [NC MRy, [ AN,

AodNse: A Ca AATPCDc Do/
SbeHANDIE ANYCHNH LS, < AN* ¢
D>bD>YSbc P/LLLE CVALDS Lalb< Anx<lo
SbeHANDE ARCNeCH*N g
bLMYSbPa M C. HGtc bd* 6*LL*LITP AoAC
Db ot N> Ao TS Ay rlo
AobD®Igd H]Lc bd®0f bLMSbP*a G 5<IGCC
PP<o b HaNI®Io® bLMSbP*a *Ma.cC.

Sbe5a.NDC ANNAHPNE LbL><

b A NIBA DSbPed C*a. (ONNNJS) CAL
SH>ALE<C DN H<ShECTbCobE CSa
ASdYD>< ACJC Coa Mo CnlbD>Is
D>b>rYcno ¢ LcbcPndc? LG cPbndc®
ASdyD>< ACEOre, Psbsoro oactl CRa
DGR H<b e LLE Sbesa.ND<s BPAANDS S
ANMNGC>JLYTC,

CALP a5 ASYP<5bGL®D oo T CALC
DDA o oac® Cta PAAND S

b A NI ARCNGSdAd*a D%, P
D>RJC PSbP>Inded HC DSbP>raJ*a vMeDJC
HLcP><No© b Ha NI ArCNGeNsdra &,
L*ac AMNGHCP*an<b*LC HALcC Agcb
C2a dCJC
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Inuit Language Protection Act in Inuktut.
Until those regulations are passed, our
office does not have jurisdiction.

That is actually one of our
recommendations, to provide clarity,
because there are some municipalities
where it’s clear, like Igaluit, where
there’s a huge English-speaking
population and French-speaking
population that the municipality, it would
seem, should provide services in all
official languages, English, French, and
Inuktut, but the only obligation so far is
Inuktut until the regulations are passed.
That’s the reference that was made. That
is why it was an inadmissible concern.
We couldn’t investigate it.

In the second part of your question,
(interpretation) you also asked about the
communities and whether they know
their roles and responsibilities under the
Act. We have sent out questionnaires to
the communities and asked the hamlet
councils about what their roles and
responsibilities are, if they knew their
roles and responsibilities under the
Official Languages Act, and whether they
need more information.

We have sent out two sets of
questionnaires to the communities, but
we had very little response. We also
thought about calling the communities to
get the information that we would like to
get and to find out whether they know
their roles and responsibilities under the
Act regarding language services. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam

ADOAE PBPA* o K >IN ASdyD<

AN 5Nb. CAPI<c LN

LcLR®NC> Do Mo I \S¢

> NI ™NOC b HaNDE Psb>ISa.

C*a <DcSdNdC Ac Ty L

a5 APICPNSd5J HAL Cbs*Lo¢ b
CALASG®. ASHOAS AHCPHo AMAdoo
Sb A NI DbAINES PAANDH. Cdo™L
HALPYD>Y oo b ANNGHCDLA b IL®eD o
ADS5Ne CLYPS AchnYyDPLIAC Dsb>JC
>AAND Sb=5aNDE Ao‘ND*Hs. Leac
ArD>AJ*aIA*a GCC AoNDI® L LAC
CAYd< L LS G®CAC

be’NCDc D*Meo*Mo. C3R CALACHL 2.
C22>*L CAL® CAYDALD® Dobbc<dl oo,
CAYDALD® bLMYq o **"CDC
AFLDNPE>EL 55,

AA®INAE AAKLa® (DNANJPEGeD5®)
JAANGCSAC AoPNI*LSH*LSbA, oa.cC
So>ALLLLC Acn<dnP<sbeC Mo L*a
AA®dNG® Do ?/LLo<K®DIIC oa ™o
AN AP 5C L LAS Ad<daOo
Sb>ALLLLALC <L ANNAShSo Mo
Sb>ALENGHSLALC, <L <>PNo® PAo®
b</NCNNAPea >N Do ACShSL*LC
sb>raAOC.

LsP<N®IC a WP LcGo<d%Dd oac®.of
PDLCNDYL N CC AL/ LG %D JC
D>Sbc >NPICNLLASBA AASeAHECPCC

a YDPRDA%Q M 5C NNStba®.

Cea L%a sbDANST® SbP>ANGACCG HIDC
0a.EC SHPMLNALLE ANNASbST* Mo
D>b>AC oh of. Sdyeal™, Ab/RPCE®,

A/ RU>CS®: sdhoal®, ™ ABNSe, C TP,

FPesJdse: L'a“Hdé\e
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Chairperson. Listening to your responses
and following what I understand, it’s
quite obvious that English, French, and
Inuktut are officially recognized. As a
government, the documents that we
produce are required to be written in all
official languages. In your earlier
response, | seemed to understand that the
local governments have not implemented
the Act. Do | understand that correctly?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): There are
two ways. There’s the Inuit Language
Protection Act, which only focuses on the
Inuktitut language and the requirement to
provide the services in Inuktitut. This Act
has been implemented. Just recently in
Baker Lake when | went to the hamlet
council and spoke in Inuktitut, they had
to provide the services back in Inuktitut.

We also have the Official Languages Act,
which requires services to be provided in
French, English, and Inuktitut, but it
would be only under the regulations of
the Official Languages Act. There are a
lot of English speakers in Baker Lake.
The Minister of Languages would have to
make it a requirement to provide services
in English if there is a request.

Since there are two ways, it can be
difficult to explain definitely. | hope that
makes it clear. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Do you have another
question, Mr. Mikkungwak? Mr.
Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):

AP/ RPC®, Clta. PD>N=HNE DNHNE Lra
DPYPLY<dC LRLIHEIE ASdy*Leo® a s *MLE
<A, PAADS, AobDC AcCnbP>I/LcSLE
baClr. <tLo LRLP<HC CLbd<d NNobE
Acn<dnQCDC CLA® OC
NNG®ZLA*QN<Sb®CSLC. NNSebE
NePCP>o<G*LC a0t PLAY® PBNHNC
DPANLGL oacvo LRLDNC CLEAT*L ASdyl®
<D*OC, A, N<Ca IPARL? L'an Ab/PDCse,

A/ RU>CS®: sdheal®, MC MPeU®, [ AN,

AodNse: Cta LSPACHLILE. ADAC Db/ Lo
WOLUo5I€ Lab® AoPDICNL® DSh>YSbseD o
0a.EC ANMNASST e 0, C*a. IDcSb/Ldsb
Ll L*a SbLo<DST SbLo<D<sIC

H<Lc bd*M*65cPL AobDC DSbec JL
ANCNSDCD>CNANABGL eI,

PPdacCCD® PbD/C AchnPrLNC Ll o
CRPLC b5 NI PAADC
ANMNALSHSTebC SbLo T Lclbde, Pr<lo
DSb/LN<SbGL®D%. A, b 5a.NIP>a *DC
ArAcs*LC SbLo I, Fo™D< Ca
bLPy<SbSLeCL LebePSoo
AMNALDD®IALD>ObC HALSdE b >a.NDC
>AAND.

Coa LSPAC*Lo*L.o¢ a 5aP<sbeCs|,C
D>SbD>/ACNAA*L <t DPYNCNNKISANL.
DPYQ >S5 5P, Sdbeal®, Ab/RPCSH,

A/ RUCS®: sdbeal®, M AON,
JIANLbo o PC [C MP*3JL? MC TP,

Fpasy<se:
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Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. Yes, | do understand that.
As the Languages Commissioner of
Nunavut, and looking at all of the
Nunavut communities, it also indicates
here in the Act, and as the official
watchdog of languages, you indicated
that there would have to be regulations
under the Act for them to be required to
provide those services. With respect to
the regulation, is that from your office or
would this regulation have to be adopted
at the community level? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Just a
moment.

If I understood your question correctly,
the Minister of Languages would set up
the regulation under the Act.

In order to find out what is a requirement,
we would like to see... . It is in one of the
recommendations we made. Just a
minute.

It’s the first recommendation and we will
touch up on it later when we get to the
recommendations. In the first one, we
have, “...the Minister of Languages pass
regulations on expected language
services and communications for all
municipalities according to their
respective significant demand.” Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutiq. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Good morning and
welcome to the House, Commissioner

L'a“odéb, AYRPCS, A Cta. DPPN<INL.
PP<do DbD>I/cnost blilaloNE oa 2 5eC ¢,
Cbdd oac O 0a D% CLAT*L ASdy®
Dsbs/L*LE ASILTe DSbD>Ycno < Meh ot

> CNA>NEHNE Cla IDLSe
DDALALPLASH®EI® NBPCHLA (b
aoaAYSADL. Cta PN Cla LePde®
DSbD>ZALYAC CAL NNGSASYEa® >RE H5%gC
0a.c*t NPCPLAsh®< ASdYS of
dCcSo<sod? La, AWYRPCE,

AP/ PCSe OLNNJO): sd*al®, C MPEyJ<se,
™ AoNse,

AHNSe: PLNIPLA.

Cea DJPYN<IPPD, DPYCNLSAGCSd <IASPdNC.
FonC, DSbP>Ycnos I Mo C GSePP<sbGLseCL
Sb.oAc*LSdJo >N b,

aOaA®/LNLSHC bost oacC
ANNA<EBLLC
CALAC*USISMa.cGOGCAC L, Ca
ASdrS®eCN>a® ASbCHLELO®, DACNIPLA.

YL Ho, AoNI®Iob. DLICNIPHA
DSbD>/NbboSo < CGH<I2C Cbd<
ASIRDHPCDC DSHDYNcPCNJC. Ca
DL o OMLE FoC NP oNJC
Cedo™l, LD AD<aOaeb N\®Psd=_5NJC
ac<Pt 0act ANNPNINLTDDLE o g
DS @ sa AS/LCN Do, Sdyeal™,
Ab/RDCsb,

A/ RQUCS®: sdheal®, ™ ABNS, MC Ao,

Aob: sdbeal®, AbYRPCSe, >e¢ bdt Ll
JeLAPC blMYa
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Inutiq and Karliin Arreak. Welcome.

I have two questions for further clarity.
To make sure that I’m understood, I will
speak in Inuktitut. You touched up on an
issue for which I would like further
clarification on. You indicated that
there’s resistance or reluctance by some
of the private sector in implementing the
Act.

Why is it that there’s reluctance or
resistance on the part of the private
sector? Is it because it’s going to be a
financial burden on their part or is it just
reluctance or resistance because they
don’t believe in implementing the Act?
Do you have any of the reasons why
there’s reluctance from the private
sector? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): There was a
time at a meeting when an individual
indicated that it would be very hard to
implement the Act and that it’s hard to
find Inuktitut-speaking people because
most of the people who speak Inuktitut
are hired by the government and
interpreters are not readily available.
Even though translators might be reliable,
the Inuktitut documents that they produce
might not be up to par. That’s one of the
concerns they had.

Part of it is to change their practices. |
don’t know if it’s due to laziness, but it’s
sometimes hard to make changes in an
organization. I’m not sure. | can’t really
respond to your question because we
haven’t asked them why they are
reluctant to implement the Act. The
challenges that are faced in the private
sector are not enough Inuktitut-speaking

AON® <5 b Jndb, DL A1e.

LSP*gbA A®INENSH®IL,
DPYP<IPNNPNLESNe <5 DPPa tN<So<ISL
A0PNDC Db *a<5eI*L,.

A%a DSbP>INbD>LAC DPYN<bbe oSt D>Sc .
CAPIJSe AcMC 4D PLo%gNHECNLLC
ASLG N AJLE eGP NI 5L CJs%,
Db eb>LAC DPYN<bbaebe DScJ Ca.

Sb.OALLS CALASDL®DHR?
D>Sb>YL>HCCPAC? Pa DL o DA L™LE
DR 5%GC IIPL* g DA%Q S IC

DN IRT DIRHGC AP g d S,
DPANLSHE*Pead1? DD >SHECSAC
Sb.OALLS <IDPLEMCDHBHECHLE? sgyeal™,
AbIRPCsb,

Ab/R|PBCSL: sdheal™, [C Aod MC ABN,

AHN; bNLIGOC Sb*UD>c DSe/LLpP<se
D>SbSeISbe DSeILLLE AL DI 5aeIP% Coa
<ADcPNNa A od. Cra DD/
A0*NOP*Q ®DaC A%ba AL*NoC Aa Do
A5 SHECSLLJSe AN CN<ISDAC LRLbdC
NJYD>SHECSLC. Ca DSb>InYD>I/LCCedse <Ll
DRGCI% PAAC, DNAC IDA%Q D> 5<5beCs*LC
<L A *a®dC DAL LN 5NC

A0 NIC®NCHE atla cN<sLaLC
AFLDONPYDSHECs LC. Cod<xJeCede.

ACPHLISCD® AP o DPCho
Sb.oS*ULA ... AP oS J*LHL*LE a.abS.
PPdo AP oSt <I9S ®D< 5P HbECS L,
CALP P> gNc GsepsILPsLC ..

AL DTS I*LPRED®? ShoP<® ... Sbo%

P> PN® @ HPNCCS. SboSe AALLL*LC
AASb A CC®IC QAP ALV CC. Cbd<
DN®YLLG 5ADC bLNR<IN“ NS,

Cea DbPINWb AXn Do GeC>ILo™L <L
A®ba AL®NC <5 SbCSo >N Ll DLAC
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personnel, reliance on
interpreter/translators and what their
abilities are. That’s the response | can
provide at this time. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Maybe you
responded to this question and perhaps |
didn’t hear it and | do apologize, but
what is your office going to do and how
do you respond when there’s reluctance
or resistance on the part of the private
sector? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Well, there
are some private sector businesses that
have readily implemented the Act in their
offices. It might be a challenge, but if
there is willingness, they could
implement the legislation into their
operations and be able to hire Inuktitut-
speaking personnel.

We didn’t bring the booklet that we
produced, but there are pictures of private
sector signage outside of their buildings.
There are those in the private sector that
have implemented the Act. We took
some pictures and used them as models
of how it could be implemented by others
in the private sector. We did produce a
booklet outlining what would be required
in the Act.

We are open to the general public. You
can get in touch with us by phone and we
can send out information if you ask for it.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

DA PO TN L DNNMCTbGHAG*LC
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P>Y%a b P®Chh. Sdh*al™®, AbYRPC®,
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QbNPeGCC DSTLENJC <oaJ<sb® Do
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<L LDAMLa A o dASdNSb®IshsL e
Dsbc bCo® <L NNSba® ab/D>/abC o,
CALbc D>, sdyeal®, Ab/U>CS,
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | would like some
clarification on the first page of your
opening comments. It states, “During the
2013-14 fiscal year, the Office of the
Languages Commissioner had some
capacity issues. As you know, capacity
issues can really an organization’s ability
to get things accomplished.” Can you
clarify if that is still the case today? |
know that this is from the 2013-14 annual
report, but what is the status of that
today? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): There are
seven positions in our office and there are
presently four positions filled. The
retention of employees has been the most
challenging part since | started. I think
that’s it. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Do you know why
it’s difficult to get staff? There are only
seven positions and you can’t fill them
all. Why? Do you know the reason?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiqg.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): It’s hard to
give you a proper answer. | don’t know
why we can’t fill the positions. Right
now, we have three positions open; one is
a communications officer. They are
advertised for three weeks and once it is
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closed, we have to re-advertise it because
there are no applicants. We had to
advertise it twice. We just recently did
interviews for one position and we will
be advertising another position, that
being for a coordinator. It’s difficult to
answer your question properly. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. If | understand
correctly, you have four employees right
now. What are the titles of the four
positions or what do they do? Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): There are
myself, the Languages Commissioner;
our Inuktitut language investigator,
Karliin; a French researcher; and our
receptionist. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Are you done? (interpretation
ends) Does anybody have any more
questions to the commissioner’s opening
comments? No. We will go on to the
questions over the annual reports. Mr.
Mapsalak.

Mr. Mapsalak (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Welcome.
First of all, my question is (interpretation
ends) in the executive summary of your
2013-14 annual report, you state that
pharmacies, and I quote, “will need
support through extensive terminology
development as well as assistance in the
creation of appropriate software.” Can
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you indicate if you have raised these
concerns with the Inuit Ugausinginnik
Taiguusiliugtiit and, if so, what were the
outcomes of that discussion? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Mapsalak.

Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: Yes, | have been in
communication with both the offices of
the Minister of Languages and Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit. The new
executive director and | have agreed to
meet on a monthly basis just to have
continual communications because there
are several observations that my office
has made that will need the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit’s
involvement, including this one. They’re
aware of the need for this and we started
brainstorming on actions as to how to
assist the pharmaceutical businesses.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Mapsalak.

Mr. Mapsalak: Thank you. Maintaining
a full staff complement appears to be an

ongoing concern in your annual reports.

In your view, what factors are currently

preventing your office from maintaining
a full staff complement? Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Mapsalak.

I think that was talked about a little a bit
before, but perhaps you can answer the
question, please, Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: | have asked the same
question and, as | said, it’s a difficult
question to answer. | can only guess that
it’s a Nunavut-wide issue. There’s a lot
of movement in jobs. One of the
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requirements of the jobs in our office is
bilingualism in two official languages
and those kinds of people are very sought
after by various offices for their skill sets.
I can only guess that it’s those factors.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Mapsalak.

Mr. Mapsalak: Thank you. In the
executive summary of your 2013-14
annual report, you state that your office
has, and | quote, “been getting involved
with the International Association of
Languages Commissioners,” and that as a
result, “many opportunities have surfaced
and sharing of reports and research is
constant.” As of today, what specific
types of research and reports has your
office been able to access through this
association that has allowed you to
improve your role as the Languages
Commissioner of Nunavut? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Mapsalak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutig: One big one was when we
were doing the systemic investigation on
the Qikigtani hospital. We also had done
a similar project with the Wales
Languages Commissioner. That was very
informative in terms of the kind of
approach that they took and the issues
that they looked at. That’s one example.
The other is that there are questions that
are posed to the association of projects
that one jurisdiction is doing and they ask
whether others are interested in
partnering on issues such as employment
and language services as a result.

Our office has not partnered per se, but |
find that the work of other languages
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commissioners is very informative in our
work and also leading up to one of the
anticipations | have had, which is the
Language Acts review. One of the
discussions in the association is just
looking at various language rights and
legislative approaches in each jurisdiction
and what kind of impact that has. We’re
unique here where we have private sector
obligations or future obligations. The
association also looks to us as a model of
how things are legislated and language
rights are upheld, | suppose.

It’s also the network of being able to ask
a question. There was one issue our
office dealt with and one of the concerns.
I asked the group, “Has anybody dealt
with a similar situation,” and then |
received feedback. Those are the ways
that the association is working. I have not
taken the opportunity to partner or
collaborate directly, but it’s the network
and the information that you’re able to
receive. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Mapsalak.

Mr. Mapsalak: Thank you. | have
another question. In the executive
summary of your 2013-14 annual report,
you state that organizations, such as
housing authorities and institutions of
public government are not clearly
categorized as private sector entities or
territorial institutions and that the current
language legislation needs to be clear on
the obligations of these entities. Can you
provide some examples of specific
institutions of public government that
you are referring to? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Mapsalak.
Ms. Inutiq.
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Ms. Inutiq: We received a concern about
the Nunavut Impact Review Board and it
was a question of whether all of their
documentation with the Mary River
project should be provided in Inuktitut.
Apparently there are huge binders that
they provide when they’re doing their
public consultation. The question
became: are they a territorial institution?
Are they a federal body? Are they
private? They don’t fall neatly into any of
the categories that are in the two
Language Acts.

Also with the housing authorities, there
was a concern about their policies and it
had a huge impact on the resident and
again, they’re not listed as a board or an
agency. The housing corporation is. Are
they part of the housing corporation? It’s
not clear. When it’s time to review the
Language Acts, | think we will need clear
definitions of who is obligated to do what
and where do these entities fall into. Are
they private? Are they government? What
are they? Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig. It
sounds like a lot more work is needed in
that area for sure in the next few years to
come. Mr. Alex Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Good
morning. (interpretation ends) In the
activity report of your 2013-14 annual
report, you state that your office reviewed
job descriptions “to ensure there are
bilingual language requirements for
vacant positions.” In your view, which
positions in the public sector must
include bilingual language requirements
to allow the government to be able to
meet its language obligations?

Thank you, Madam Chairperson.
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Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: In my view, there has to be a
lot more strategy in terms of which
positions should be bilingual within the
government.

I think the government does a good job of
making the frontline workers be able to
provide services in Inuktut, but if you
look at our telephone verification calls,
which tests, | guess, the government’s
ability on their active offer, active offer
should exist within government. The first
person you contact should greet you in all
official languages and if they don’t speak
an official language, they should be able
to direct you to somebody who can speak
to the individual in that official language.

In our telephone verification calls and
that active offer, a lot of work has to be
done to ensure that it’s seamless. There
should be people who can provide the
services in all official languages in the
offices, especially essential services, such
as the hospital. I’ll leave it there for now.
I don’t know if I answered MLA
Sammurtok’s question clearly, but just
that there has to be a lot more strategy
involved in how the GN hires and what
language skills should exist within
departments, divisions, and so on. Thank
you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Just before 1 go on to Alex, maybe I
would like to ask you also: how do you
see the work needed to determine the
essential positions that need this
bilingualism? Do you see yourself, as the
commissioner, working with the
government on that soon? Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: I could if I was asked. I think
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our systemic investigation on the hospital
will be a good example of looking at an
essential service and how to improve
services in all official languages, and to
start thinking about how we can plan
better as a territory so that people are able
to receive services in all official
languages, especially in places like the
hospital when people are most
vulnerable. I would be open to
participating in that process. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. (interpretation
ends) In the activity report of your 2013-
14 annual report, you indicate that your
office was screening and interviewing
applicants for three different positions in
your office from the months of May to
July 2013. Can you indicate what other
activities your office was able to
undertake during that time? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: Let me just have a moment.
Can you list what months? May to June?

An Hon. Member: July.
Ms. Inutiq: May to July? Okay.

If you look at our activity report, from
May to July, as the MLA pointed out,
there were job competitions. In June,
there was a lot of attending of
graduations, meeting with somebody in
the staffing division on language
requirements in the hiring process,
speaking to Akitsiraq Law School
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orientation students, planning and
producing media messaging for the 20th
anniversary of the Nunavut Land Claims
Agreement, sending letters to drawing
contest winners, and working with the
Department of Culture and Heritage and
Inuit Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit on
creating a poster on our different roles
because people confuse the three offices
that deal with languages. We worked
with those two offices to create a poster
explaining our different roles, as well as
writing a letter of support for the Inuit
Broadcasting Corporation. Those are the
activities.

In May, | attended the Nunavut Literacy
Council’s Peter Gzowski’s invitational in
Rankin Inlet and took the time to meet
with the mayor of Rankin Inlet at the
time. | had a presentation to the
Government of Nunavut
Interdepartmental French Working
Group. I was just a few months into my
job just explaining who | am and what
my priorities are and them sharing what
they do. | had a meeting with
parliamentary interns and a meeting with
the mayor of Iqgaluit, also presenting to
the City of Igaluit Council, and also
attending the first meeting of the
International Association of Language
Commissioners in Dublin, Ireland. That’s
it. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq.
Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: One moment. Mr.
Sammurtok, your mic...(inaudible)...

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the activity report of your
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2013-14 annual report, you indicate that
you travelled to Arctic Bay and met with
the hamlet office. Can you indicate what
was discussed during this meeting and
what concerns, if any, the Hamlet of
Arctic Bay has raised in relation to its
language obligations? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: Yes, the hamlet wanted to
understand what their language
obligations were, so | was there to meet
with them on the Inuit Language
Protection Act and its intent, including
what the hamlets are expected to do and
what challenges they see facing in terms
of implementing those obligations. That
was the purpose of that meeting. Thank
you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the activity report of your
2013-14 annual report, you indicate that
you met with the director of legal
services to discuss language services.
Based on your discussions with this
entity, is Nunavut’s [legal] services office
currently fulfilling its language
obligations? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutiqg.

Ms. Inutiq: I’m just trying to jog my
memory.

That was somebody who works in the
courts and we were meeting to see how...
. As far as | know, the court services were
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up against challenges in terms of finding
good interpreters. There used to be
training through the senior justice before
she retired. Once she retired, it had been
discontinued. The court services were
facing challenges finding good
interpreters. | was seeing if there was any
interest in continuing interpreter training
of some sort or being more active in
ensuring that people were being trained
to interpret in the courts. That was the
meeting. To be honest, | would need to
go back and ask them how it’s going.

In terms of the second part of your
question, are they meeting their language
service obligations, court services are an
area that I have not looked at, but it could
be an area that | could look at. I’m open
to that if there’s concern that it is not
running as well as it should. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. (interpretation
ends) In the activity report of your 2013-
14 annual report, you indicate that you
met with the Auditor General of Canada
in April of 2013 to discuss the delivery of
bilingual education in Nunavut.
Subsection 49(4)(b) of the Inuit
Language Protection Act states that
section 8, which provides parents with
the right to have their children receive
Inuit language instruction in Nunavut’s
education programs, will come into force
for all primary and secondary grades on
July 1, 2019.

In your view, will the education system
in Nunavut have the resources and
capacity to deliver a bilingual education
in English and Inuktitut to all primary
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and secondary grades by July 1, 2019?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: The Auditor General
meeting was to provide input on their
audit of the education system.

In terms of your question on the ability to
achieve the goal of bilingualism by 2019,
I think the Auditor General answered that
question, that the way the education
system is being delivered, it’s not
achievable and that a lot more work
needs to be done to be achievable.
There’s a lot more dedication and work
that needs to happen.

I’m of the same opinion that a lot of
effort needs to be made to make it a
reality and we have to ask ourselves
whether we’re fully committed to
bilingualism as a territory. That includes,
as the Standing Committee recently
reported, there is a lack of bilingual
teachers, so we need to approach it in
such a way to ensure that bilingual
teachers are being trained. That’s it.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Just to clarify, it wasn’t the Standing
Committee; it was the Special Committee
to Review the Education Act.

I just have one further question before we
take a break. When you talk about going
to Arctic Bay and working with that
municipality... . | saw somewhere in
your report that you also went to Rankin
Inlet. What other communities have you
gone to within Nunavut during the last
year? Thank you. Ms. Inutig.
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Ms. Inutiq: During the year that we’re
reviewing or after?

Chairperson: 2013-14.

Ms. Inutiq: Just give me a moment.
Arctic Bay, Rankin Inlet, and meeting
with the City of Igaluit. That year, those
were the communities that | met with.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig. |
also see that you travelled to the Northern
Lights Tradeshow in Ottawa. What was
your role there? Thank you. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: We were finalizing the work
on the private sector, so | felt that |
should have a presence. During that trip
was the trade show and we provided
information to the private sector. That
year, we had attended all the trade shows
that related to Nunavut. That included the
Northern Lights Tradeshow. During that
trip to Ottawa, | also met with Nunavut
Sivuniksavut students and the Amaujaq
Institute on their bilingual education
strategy. That was the purpose of the trip.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq.
When you say that you met with private
businesses, for example, at different,
various trade shows, what’s the follow-up
to those? Like you meet with them and
you discuss, perhaps, and I’m assuming
that you would talk about the Inuit
Language Protection Act and perhaps
their obligations under that, but do you
do a follow-up with these businesses?
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: As | explained, part of our
strategy has been to be available to
answer questions with the private sector
and just having that rapport. One of the
risks, I guess, of our office, as it was
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pointed out with my meeting with the
senior administrative officers last month,
is that there’s a perception that our office
only takes punitive measures. It was
suggested that maybe that’s why nobody
has answered our surveys with
municipalities because there’s worry that
there’s going to be repercussions if
they’re not complying.

With the private sector, we have made an
attempt, in the three years that we were
working on informing the private sector,
of just trying to maintain a relationship of
being available to answer questions so
that we’re not perceived as there just to
do punitive measures on the private
sector, and just to kind of ease that
anticipation or the fear.

In terms of the follow-up, since the term
of the private sector liaison officer ended,
that role has been changed to a project
manager. Some of the connection with
the private sector has been transferred to
our public affairs officer, which is vacant
right now. Once that position is done, we
will have to go back to ensuring that we
have that connection with the private
sector and that we are providing
information that they’re able to provide
language plans to our office if they’re not
in a position to comply.

That has been our strategy and | hope that
answers your question. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Alex, do you have another question? Mr.
Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. (interpretation
ends) In the activity report of your 2013-
14 annual report, you indicate that your
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office attended a number of trade shows
during the 2013-14 fiscal year. Can you
explain how your office publicizes
language obligations, services, and the
role of your office to various
organizations during these conferences
and trade shows? Thank you,
(interpretation) Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: As | explained earlier,
maybe not in a trade show context.
During the trade shows, there’s
information about the expected language
service obligations to the private sector
that would be handed out. There were
attempts to have conversations with
various private sector entities, and also
making presentations at these trade
shows. As a result of the collective work
of informing the private sector, not just
the trade shows but the letters we sent out
in the media ads that we did, there were
41 requests for information during fiscal
year 2012-13. Also, because of the
communication with the private sector on
Inuit language plan guidelines that we
had published, we updated it just to make
it more user-friendly, clearer and to avoid
confusion. That was a result of the
feedback that we received. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq.
Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the activity report of your
2013-14 annual report, you indicate that
you attended the Peter Gzowski
Invitational Golf Tournament for
Literacy in Rankin Inlet in May of 2013.
Can you indicate how your office has
benefited from your attendance at this
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event? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: That event is a fundraiser for
the Nunavut Literacy Council and they
invite guests from musicians from
Canada and famous people, and | was
asked to take part in that fundraiser. |
agreed to take part. There were also
young musicians from Arviat and there
was a community event the last evening,
which was a concert.

The Nunavut Literacy Council does
important work and they have to
fundraise in order to stay afloat. I felt it
was an important cause and it also
developed a relationship with the literacy
council. I had not met the staff prior to
that event. That was the purpose of the
trip. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the activity report of your
2013-14 annual report, you indicate that
your office provided a presentation to the
Government of Nunavut’s
Interdepartmental French Working Group
in May of 2013. Can you indicate if your
office works with this working group a
regular basis? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: In the annual report prior to
this one, one of the issues that was visited
or discussed was whether our office
should be part of the interdepartmental
group just to provide guidance on the
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types of language services that are
expected within government, but it was
felt that because our office is supposed to
oversee government, maybe it’s a conflict
situation and also that people will not feel
safe to freely discuss some of the
challenges and issues that they face.

It was agreed that our office would not be
a part of the interdepartmental group, but
that when the group wanted our office to
present, we would do that and if they had
questions, they could ask our office. That
is the kind of relationship we have with
the interdepartmental group. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Any more questions, Mr. Sammurtok?
Before we go on to our next Member, we
will take a 15-minute break.

>>Committee recessed at 10:35 and
resumed at 10:52

Chairperson: Just learning this job here.
Welcome back, everybody. Are there any
further questions? Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | would like to
make reference to a response that I heard
earlier regarding the May 2013 invitation
that you got to Rankin Inlet. That was the
Peter Gzowski Invitational Golf
Tournament for Literacy. Maybe | wasn’t
listening carefully, but I wanted to know
how you benefited from attending the
Peter Gzowski Invitational Golf
Tournament for Literacy. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): After having
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attended the invitational tournament... .
We usually include our activities in the
annual report. For example, literacy in
English, French, and Inuktitut, I tried to
make sure that all those languages were
included, but there has been no research
done on literacy in Inuktitut, whether it’s
Roman orthography or syllabics. At that
time, | started thinking about the level of
competency in reading and writing in the
official languages.

I think our office benefited most on
interaction with the organizations and
with the literacy council. It gave me new
ideas on what type of work is required
under literacy and languages. You can
also ask me about any issues on literacy.
That’s it. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson. | would like further
clarity on other activities. We hope that
they do benefit the organizations and
your office.

You also indicated earlier that you
participated and are becoming more
involved at the international level and
attending international conferences for
languages commissioners. If I’m correct,
you went to the conference in Ireland.
How did that benefit your office in going
to Ireland or to any other country? How
does it benefit the people of Nunavut
when you attend international
conferences like that? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiqg.

QSCJCLe/DNCNo DSBS SboAC Lo Mo
NNG®/LSHECSEC, DSbcLSose Dbsed Jab
Ld< Sb=5aNDC D>sbclP*a ®d, PAANDC
D>SbcLP*a %D, AobD“ 5 PSbclPa 5IC,
CRRESHCPNa Pl LLo<IGePC

CAb**Lc DD, PP<la Sb>NNSTse,
Sb>ANCDZL M LLS

A0bDC DSbPea D¢ PSbcL NP asL*LC
<o SboDL<AC SbPLPe<AC, Coa
APLPESST e D/LLS CANLo AN Yo *Lo®
DSbcLP*aso® DbbrYso AchnyD>rLYoC
Sh>ANSoSb,

CALc <DNsbén/L NS AcnsbNrNegsre
02T DSbclr®aSo>< bNLyed*Ne,
CAbFSbC>c D>®N=5%L ALLPUYc D1 CeaC
AL < PGL AL JANN*a.cseDNe
Sb>NMILLMLL DSbclSob< Mho. Lo DReg®
<IANN*Qc®PIN® b oIA*q e
AbYIBCIL L UM 5%5C. CALbc DS
sd*al™®, Ab/RPCSe,

AP/ XPCSe OLNNYJO): sdbeal®, [ AdN®, C
Ao,

Aob: Sdral®, Ab/RPCS®, LLCH® QA L
DP/P<beoPLYS Ldd ... PACLE Acn<dnb2C
IDNSH®IA*Q SINM @ SHCGHILE Lo
IONSbHIA™Q >LN>J 5% oNe, PY<a Ac.NJC
PN AYLEC.

D>abbbD>*TLAS Ac>AL*TLALJ®
AcP>RC“HOND 0a ST AcnsbNJ<C
DSbD>PS 0 bliYa<C, CLL M bdL, JADc -
J<sbC>AL®d DGAC. SboALLECDSe, Sb_ose
<ION5bse< CPRT*a L PPCAC 0a D >oC
DR HGC I N oC, Sho% INsbe<

002 D>o¢ 0a 2 Do 5 CLbdd A5
ba.CP>< V<ot AcPNNMSHECHCNE? Sdyeal™,
AbP LS,

A/ UCS®: sdheal®, MC Aod M AdNS,

35




Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): | think it
benefited. As the Languages
Commissioner, you feel like you’re the
only one. When you’re making
recommendations to the government,
although you represent all members of
the public, sometimes you feel so alone
and the only one doing that type of work.
It gets you more involved in your roles
and responsibilities as the Languages
Commissioner. | think it benefits working
together with your counterparts and also
in strengthening the usage of languages
and language rights.

It gets you involved with other countries.
You look at the retention of the
languages of Nunavut and also
preserving languages. There are also
other countries that are working hard to
revitalize and strengthen their languages.
You look at different ideas and activities
that are being held in other countries to
preserve and protect their languages.

At times, you even think that you’re
doing it wrong or maybe you’re the only
one with this kind of an idea or wanting
to do this type of an activity. The most
challenging part in holding this office is
the feeling of being alone. Interacting
with other languages commissioners
benefits and we can also ask if they have
done a certain type of activity and when
they do say yes or even if they say that
“We haven’t done this type of activity,
but it’s an idea and we can work together
on it,” it has benefited our office a lot.

In Canada, the languages commissioners
are working more closely together after
having attended at the international level.
It gives you some ideas on how you can
work together at the national and
international level, Madam Chairperson.
Thank you.
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Participating in
national and international conferences
benefits you as the Languages
Commissioner. If it has benefited you,
how would it benefit me as a regular “Joe
Inuk” of Nunavut? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): At times, it
gives you something to work towards. It
gives you new ideas on language
preservation. It gives you more ambition
to help in preserving and protecting the
languages. It gives you new ideas and
activities in regard to the issue of
language preservation. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): 1’m done.

Chairperson: Okay. Are there any
further questions? Mr. Akoak, did you
have a question? Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Sandra Inutig, officials,
welcome. | just have one question. | will
have other questions later on in the day.
The one question | have is you say that
you visit abroad, but I haven’t seen any
visits towards the Kitikmeot area. I’m
wondering if you’re going to be visiting
that area some time soon. Just to remind
you, we are a part of Nunavut as well.
Just a question: when will you be visiting
the Kitikmeot? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.
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Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: | went to Cambridge Bay last
March to attend a youth gathering on the
language planning on how the Kitikmeot
will start working on revitalizing Inuktut.
That was a very emotional and inspiring
meeting because it was a group of young
people and elders talking about what
they’re going to do to start working on
revitalizing Inuktut. There was a group of
young people that were there that had
taken lessons in Inuktut. Some of the
discussion was around what else can be
done to support them in their learning.

And then last month, I was in Cambridge
Bay to attend the Nunavut Association of
Municipalities’ gathering. | realize
Cambridge Bay isn’t the only Kitikmeot
community and what | have been trying
to do is attend meetings, such as the
Nunavut Association of Municipalities,
where everybody is gathered together,
just to try and maximize the messaging
with various representatives from
communities. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
I’m going to the next MLA. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Ms. Chairperson. In the activity
report of your 2013-14 annual report, you
indicate that you met with the mayor of
Igaluit and presented to the lgaluit City
Council in May of 2013. In your view, is
the City of Igaluit currently meeting its
language obligations under the current
legislation and, if not, how is your office
working with the city to advise it on
improving its language services?

Thank you, Madam Chairperson.
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Since our last
meeting, | have realized that they’re
trying harder. They even looked at having
three languages visible on street signs
and stop signs. City building signage is
starting to have the three languages and
the city provides information on
Facebook. Inuktitut, English, and French
are starting to appear more. | know
they’re progressing.

However, the research or survey that
we’re doing is ongoing in the
communities on the status of language
services, not only in lgaluit but in other
Nunavut communities. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Can you
indicate how often your office meets with
representatives from the city to discuss its
language obligations? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): | haven’t met
with them again since then. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. In the future,
will you be planning any annual
meetings? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, we can
do that. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Moving on, in
your 2013-14 annual report, it indicates
that you met with parliamentary interns
and they also visited our Legislative
Assembly. They even went to Kimmirut
for a tour. We appreciate their visit, but |
would like to ask Ms. Inutig: can you
explain what this meeting entailed and
how it has benefited your office? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): They want to
meet with us on an annual basis to
understand more about Nunavut. They
meet with various people. They wanted
information concerning official languages
and the status of languages, so they came
to our office. In talking with them, I
learned that in Nunavut, we have the
most number of people who speak more
than one language compared to the rest of
Canada. One of the participants had
noticed something that | had never
thought of before. I realized that we have
to see the good and that we are quite
capable and they showed me that,
learning parliamentary procedures. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
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you, Madam Chairperson. During your
previous appearance before the Standing
Committee on September 24, 2014, you
stated that you attended a conference in
Spain in March 2014. Can you indicate
why your annual report does not include
this meeting? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): It was in
May 2014 and it’s outside this report. It
will be in the next annual report. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Thank you for
clarifying that. In the activity report of
your 2013-14 annual report, you indicate
that you attended the Nunavut Arctic
College Masters of Education graduation
ceremony in June of 2013. Can you
explain how your office has benefited
from your attendance at this event?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): It is exposure
of our job when | get invited to such
events. I think it’s necessary for me to
attend to show my support. We’re very
proud of the graduates for receiving their
Masters of Education. | went there to
show my support and appreciation.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.
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Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. On another
area, you attended the Nakasuk
Elementary School. You have met with
different groups, such as district
education authorities, regional school
operations, and the Nunavut Teachers
Association to discuss obligations under
the language legislation.

Perhaps | should restate the different
education groups that you have
approached, as you mentioned the
Masters of Education graduation
ceremony and in your report, you
mentioned Nakasuk School. Can you
indicate if your office has met with any
district education authorities, regional
school operations, or the Nunavut
Teachers Association to discuss
obligations under the language legislation
that concerning the delivery of education
programs? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): | have never
met with the organizations you have
mentioned. It states here that | met with
Mary Simon. I’m not sure what the
Inuktitut term is. We have worked with
the Coalition of Nunavut District
Education Authorities on a film called
Millie’s Dream on the revitalization of
Inuinnaqtun. They’re also in our building
in our office and we see them frequently
and we talk to them about what we’re
doing and they keep us informed of what
they’re doing. | have not met with the
other organizations you have mentioned.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutiq. Mr. Joanasie.
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Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Perhaps you
will be able to meet with them some time
before the end of your term. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, it’s
possible. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Moving on to
another topic, in the activity report of
your 2013-14 annual report, you indicate
that you met with the Government of
Nunavut’s human resource
representatives and staffing division in
June of 2013. Can you indicate what was
discussed during these meetings? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Once we
were done with the investigation on the
Qikigtani General Hospital, we were
thinking of investigating human
resources. | was thinking of trying to get
a further understanding of what they’re
doing so that we wouldn’t have to do a
systemic investigation.

We did research work to make sure
official languages could be utilized when
individuals are applying for a job that is
made available through the Nunavut
government’s website. They post
employment opportunities on that
website and we look to make sure that
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official languages are used on the site.

If I’m trying to apply for a position and
for the interview, am | fluent in either one
of the official languages? Do | have the
freedom or the right to speak in French,
Inuktitut, or English during the job
interview? We investigate to make sure
that these are set up. We met with the
Government of Nunavut’s Human
Resources Division. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. I don’t know if
I understood you, but you spoke about an
investigation of the Qikigtani General
Hospital. Is it because of that
investigation process that you met with
representatives from human resources?
For example, did you just do an
investigation on the Qikigtani General
Hospital or was it for the whole
Department of Health? | hope I’'m being
clear. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): What I’m
trying to say is that for the investigative
process, it was very challenging and
cumbersome when we investigated the
Qikigtani General Hospital and we
wanted to conduct the same process for
human resources. | started thinking of
meeting with representatives from human
resources first and then making
recommendations to them and working
with them.

Rather than doing a systemic
investigation, we wanted to meet with
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them to resolve issues that need to be
resolved and work with them, and make
recommendations. That’s how | wanted
to set it up rather than doing a systemic
investigative report on human resources.
We met with them instead. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Let me ask a quick question.
Has this systematic investigation of the
hospital been completed? Where are you
at with that investigation? Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): It has been
completed. When our 2014-15 annual
report for 2014-15 is tabled in the
Legislative Assembly, it will be included
in there. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. I’m glad to hear that. Mr.
Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Yes, thank
you, Madam Chairperson. As the
commissioner stated, you wanted to work
with human resources rather than doing a
systemic investigation. How did you
work closely with them? Will it give you
an idea to use a different way of working
with them rather than doing a systemic
investigation? Did you have a good
working relationship with them and did
they work closely with you? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes. Ever
since then, we have filled the French-
speaking position and it was evident that
all the information for positions that are
made available for employment
opportunities are using more of the
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official languages, but there are still
recommendations or issues that need to
be resolved.

We will have to work closely with them
in regard to dealing with contract
agreements. In those contracts, they have
to use all official languages for their
communication information. The staff
members have to be oriented when they
first start their job. There still needs to be
improvement in that area, so we need to
work with them closely and let them
know what our expectations are. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. I also thank
the commissioner for responding to my
question. Moving on to another topic, in
the activity report of your 2013-14 annual
report, you indicate that you met with a
Greenlandic specialist in education and
decolonization in August of 2013. Can
you indicate what other work your office
has done to explore and research the
methods of other jurisdictions, such as
Greenland, that may be achieving
progress in areas such as the delivery of
language services and bilingual
education? We’re trying to use bilingual
education in Nunavut. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Perhaps the
Member can ask his question again
because | was looking for information
and did not hear it.

Chairperson (interpretation): Mr.
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Joanasie, if you can repeat your question,
please.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. In your annual
report on page 133 in English, you
indicate that you met with a Greenlandic
specialist in education and decolonization
in August of 2013.

My question was: can you indicate what
other work your office has done to
explore and research the methods of other
jurisdictions, such as Greenland? , that
may be achieving progress in areas such
as the delivery of language services and
bilingual education? I’m not sure whether
they came here or if you went there to
discuss ways of achieving progress in
areas such as delivery of language
services and bilingual education in
Nunavut, especially when we’re trying to
use bilingual education in Nunavut.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Joanasie.
Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, in
Inuktitut, decolonization is also
mentioned there and | have heard that
gavamatauniq is an Inuktitut term for
colonization.

| believe that it was very beneficial to
have met with them. When we started
drafting the education legislation, we
submitted a letter. Greenlanders have
been working for many years to try and
protect their own language and they have
realized that in protecting our language,
we have to take note that we have to
believe in our language.

We have been led to believe that we are
losing our language. Therefore, when we
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start looking at language status, in
Greenland, they have language staff on
hand for enhancing and monitoring their
language and the beliefs of young people
to ensure they are proud of their language
and culture.

I know we sometimes believe that our
culture and language are not as valuable
as others and that is shown in what we
do, even though it’s unintentional. They
have done research work on that and
they’re trying to reclaim their language.
This meeting was very beneficial and
information was left with Arctic College,
which we have copies of, and when we
started working on that, we used that.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Thank you for
the clear response. On a different matter,
you met with the manager of the Igaluit
Housing Authority in September 2013.
Can you indicate what was discussed
during this meeting? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): As | stated
earlier, | wanted to see if | had the
authority to investigate the housing
authority. We were given a concern about
the guidelines or policies that are only
available in English, and the elders who
only speak and read Inuktitut were not
informed of what the policies were in
Inuktitut because they were all written in
English and they couldn’t read English.

I met with the manager of the Igaluit
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Housing Authority to see which policies
or guidelines are not translated into
Inuktitut and to see if they could be
translated. | checked to see if there is
funding available for the necessary
translations into Inuktitut for the policies.
They would have to work with the
housing corporation to make sure that
they are translated into Inuktitut. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. This will be
my final question for the time being. In
the activity report of your 2013-14 annual
report, you indicate that you attended a
public consultation on the
implementation of the Official Languages
Act for the French language, which took
place in Igaluit on October 2013.

According to the government’s March
2013 report, titled Implementation of the
Official Languages Act: Priorities of the
Francophone Community of Nunavut
regarding French Services, the primary
objective of this consultation was to
“identify the priorities of the
Francophone community regarding
French services in the context of the
implementation of the Official Languages
Act of Nunavut.”

In your view, was this public consultation
effective in identifying the French
community’s priorities in relation to
French services and would the
government’s work to implement the
Official Language Act benefit from
holding similar consultations in other
Nunavut communities for Inuit language
speakers? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): In 2010, the
Minister of Languages held a conference
for the planning of the language work.
When they were consulting with the
public as to what priorities should be set
for services in Inuktitut, the French
people were not asked about that,
according to our knowledge.

Maybe the Minister can explain this
better. The Minister of Languages set up
that meeting and | was one of the invited
parties when they were doing
consultations on the implementation of
the Official Languages Act to ask us what
priorities the French language speakers
have. That’s how it was set up. The
Minister was putting together things that
he would be dealing with within the
government, trying to put together a plan
to try to implement the Official
Languages Act for the French language in
Nunavut.

Yes, it is useful. The French language is
one of the official languages of Nunavut
and they have to be informed about
important matters and they have to be
asked what their priorities are as well.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Joanasie, are you done?
Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | would like to
request clarification on an earlier
response. | hope it’s just my
misunderstanding and if not, then I will
be very disappointed.

In your response earlier, Madam
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Commissioner of Languages, you stated
that the systemic investigation was very
difficult or cumbersome. I’m not sure
what you’re trying to say when you say
that because the systemic investigation
was so difficult, you did not want to
continue with the investigation. I’m very
concerned about that statement. To do an
investigation to make sure that the people
of Nunavut are being served properly is
one of the important things out there,
especially when it involves the Inuktitut
language. You stated that it was too
difficult or too cumbersome and you
didn’t want to continue with the
investigation. I’m very concerned with
that statement.

Although I understand that you meet with
the human resources people, just having
meetings and investigations are two very
different matters in my mind. If you
talked with someone as commissioner,
they will only respond to you with what
you want to hear. If you investigate, you
will discover more things that would not
be said to you during a conversation.
Why are you saying that? Why are you
making this weaker than it should be
when it’s so important, in my opinion?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, when |
was here last year, it seemed the direction
I was given was to make sure that |
worked more closely with the Human
Resources Division when we are dealing
with human resources.

In my position, I know that not
everybody will like my work. Sometimes
they will say that I’m not doing enough
and sometimes they will say that I’'m
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doing too much. That’s the nature of the
position.

If we tried to work with them and it
wasn’t working and nothing was
changing, we were going to do the
investigation anyway. It was very
difficult to do the systemic investigation
of the whole hospital.

In the requests we made in previous years
that were documented, we were never
responded to and | have been thinking
that once the Act is being reviewed... .
How shall I put this? I feel that there
needs to be an obstruction clause to not
investigate, but to give our office more
authority on such matters. Whenever we
requested a document or anything from
them during our investigation, it seemed
like it didn’t matter if they ignored us and
there was really no recourse for us. We
even started thinking about using the
courts to get those documents. They were
finally given to us when we started
thinking like that.

It then became obvious that if we’re
going to do something like that again,
then our staff would need to have another
contracted position, in my opinion. I’'m
thinking that we would need an
additional $20,000 in finances to do that.
I’m not saying that we’re not going to do
this again. This investigation is
completed and we’re going to start
looking into how we could have done it
better and if we’re going to do this again,
how we should go about doing it. We
haven’t really discussed this in our office
yet. However, | just wanted to say or
explain that I’m not saying we’re not
going to be investigating again.

There are two ways to investigate. | can
be given a concern and then we
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investigate those things. However, what |
was talking about was that doing a
complete systemic investigation is very
difficult. We have to plan this ahead of
time properly and do it like that in the
future. The staff and finances have to be
set up properly as well. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | was thinking more
along the lines of what you said earlier.
Listening to your words, the way |
understood it is that investigations are
just too difficult. That’s what you said.
After you said that, you stated that you
decided not to do the investigation
because it is too difficult, but you would
have meetings with them instead. That’s
what | understood.

However, you stated again that if you
request documents from them, for
example, they don’t need to give it to you
if they don’t want to. You then stated that
you were even thinking about involving
the courts to get those documents and
they finally gave you some of those
documents after hearing that. | don’t
think you should be worried about that at
all. In my opinion, that’s your job. You
have the authority and if you need to go
through the courts, you can do that; you
can look into that.

What I’m trying to say is | don’t like to
hear you say that it’s too difficult. I don’t
like to hear that at all. We say such things
as our language is disappearing, our
language is not being utilized enough,
and the services are not available.
Listening to your words, you’re saying
that it’s too difficult to investigate those
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things. I really don’t like hearing that and
I’m sure Nunavummiut don’t like hearing
that either, especially those who want to
be served in their own language.

Although this is our situation, I would
like further clarification. You also stated
earlier that if you’re working with any
group, and right now we’re talking about
human resources, you said you would
investigate them and monitor them to
make sure that they are following the Act
or meeting their obligations under the
Act. When will you decide if this group
IS not using it enough or that group needs
to be looked into? What makes you
decide if a certain entity has to be
investigated? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, |
completely agree with you. | think
research is part of my job description. |
wasn’t trying to say that it’s too difficult.
What | wanted to speak to was the
challenges and the funding required to do
research.

It was a big learning experience when we
were doing the systemic investigation
and we hope to do systemic
investigations that are better planned and
well coordinated regarding human
resources with Nunavut Tunngavik, who
are doing studies. They have taken the
federal government to court and they
were going to get compensated for what
they took to the court system. They asked
me for advice about how those monies
were going to be used. | don’t think we
need to go through human resources
because they are doing it themselves as a
division.
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Regarding the hospital, we wanted to
gather the concerns regarding health over
the 10 years. It seems that there have
been no improvements on that part and if
there are no improvements, then we will
have to do another investigation. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Are you done? It’s almost
twelve o’clock. We will take a break until
1:30 p.m. Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 11:54 and
resumed at 13:27

Chairperson: Good afternoon. Hopefully
everybody had a good lunch. I welcome
everybody back to the House. Mr.
Akoak, you’re up next.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Good afternoon. In the
activity report of your 2013-14 annual
report, you indicate that you held a
teleconference with a PhD candidate
regarding research on Nunavut’s
pharmacy services in September of 2013.
Can you clarify what this research will
entail and if it will be made publicly
available? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: Yes, | have been back and
forth with the PhD candidate. It is her
research on pharmaceutical services in
Nunavut. | was curious to know the
language aspects of her research and so |
have met with her twice now and just
sharing some of the information that she
has found in her research, as well as me
sharing with her in terms of our work
towards trying to get the private sector to
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prepare for language obligations.

I’m not sure if it will be publicly
available. I can certainly check with her.
It’s not my research or my office’s
research. | will see what she has to say.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the same annual report
for the same years, you indicate that you
met with representatives from Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated’s Social
Development Division. Can you indicate
what your discussions with these
representatives entailed? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: Yes, that was our first
meeting from our office with the NSDC
staff just to share our work and our
priorities to see if there are any areas of
overlap because they work on language
issues and do research on language
issues. They did one in 2009-2010, |
believe. | just wanted to touch base with
them to see what they are up to and to
share what our office plans on doing.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the activity report, you
indicated that you met with an Inuit Sign
Language specialist in November of
2013. Can you indicate what your
discussions with the specialist entailed
and what concerns, if any, this individual

DL *LAYGA 5NC DSb>ZnaNJC
<ADnSbPL®eCx g,

oL PedcL ot NePCHILSLMLE. PP<o
SH>APIPQeCS. A% Sb>ANST-naJ
NNGSACCH%GC SbD>ANST LD LLC
SO>APS 5 CLOML Sb.oAcJNsbSLSLeLE,
sgyeal™®, Ab/RPCE,

Ab/PCSe OLANJC): Sdb*al™, ™ AoNse, C
<sg<e,

qsd<qse (OLANJO): Sdbeal™, Ab/RDCse,
CREA*Q® Povblm a e A/l ¢
bNSbNSbc >GALJ® PLL®I®Ig® oa D€
D**LAPd g AbBPcnosdc

AR SN IN* N ab, @ ya AS/<%q BAC
PAo® DbsbNNJINSbe BSLYL®AC Ceda™l
AS/noslC ARy ANGa®? SdYal™,
AbIRPCS®,

AP/ XPCSe OLNNJO): sd*al®, [C <Sd<se, ™
AONSe,

ABNS ONMNUO): A, P2 cw<LNAMed<
bNLSONPD>®/LLSC A b/ nNSINPLD>NC
D*LAPd® 0 ASba ALDC YD D>NALL DS 5
CLbdd DSbP>NY*a So<dGeNedS. Ld<ds ALR*NC
ALPNCC g e A Na LML Ne
Db ANNNJ Sb>MAG<, 2009-
2010-T*d<l Sb>ANAGSo® bN®AACD®/L*LC
CALASD G Lo DP/a tor=oNe
Sb.oACP>bECSL L o bLNSbNNc Do/ L5, SC
PACA LM C. Sdyal™, AbYRDCS,

Ab/PCSe OLAMNJC): Sg*al™, ™ AoNse, C
<sg<e.

qsd<qse (OLANJO): Sdbeal™, AbYRDC, Cbdao
ACANSHECHILLAC Dobb Mo

QDA A% D®/LINS bNLSbNNc D>SoGs oNe
ADOAC DSbD>I g Abd< LMo D% 5N
D>b>Yc ., CALASM
bNLsbNbc D>aG oNe HAIR 2013-T.

Q. Q A% PAC AT bNLYNSbe DL LE
ALH*EC ALLdNSbePSLALC

56




raised regarding sign language and
language services in Nunavut? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: Yes, this individual has been
documenting Inuit Sign Language, which
is very different than International Sign
Language, and when Inuit Sign Language
is used, working towards having better
documented Inuit Sign Language and
starting to think about how it can be
taught and made so there’s more
awareness about the existence of Inuit
Sign Language.

Some of the concerns shared [regarding]
the other aspect of your question were the
services, such as justice, to ensure that
people who use Inuit Sign Language can
receive services in areas such as the
justice system. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the same report, you
indicate that you met with the Minister of
Languages in January of 2014. Can you
indicate how often your office meets with
the Minister of Languages and the
Department of Culture and Heritage’s
Official Languages Division? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: | have met with the former
Minister of Languages, Paul Okalik, as
indicated, in January 2014. | also met
with Minister Kuksuk once he started his
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position as Minister of Languages.

There are ongoing communications at the
officials’ level between our office and
that of the Minister of Languages. We
work together in areas such as planning
for language weeks and also for the
language conference that took place in
February 2013, as well as the poster that |
mentioned that informs people about our
various roles and what the differences
are. Those are the immediate things that
come to mind in terms of how we work
together. I’ll leave it there for now.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson Thank you, Ms. Inutig. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the activity report, you
indicate that you met with the president
of Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami to discuss its
work through the Amaujaq National
Centre for Inuit Education. Can you
indicate the extent to which your office
works and meets with representatives
from Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami and how
this relationship helps your office to
undertake its role and fulfill its mandate?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: This particular meeting was
about the work on education. When |
took my job, early childhood education
and education were areas that | was
particularly interested in. | wanted to see
if there were any areas where we could
collaborate because there’s a lot of
research that the Amaujaqg Centre was
looking to partner with, and | wanted to
see if there were areas where we could
collaborate in terms of trying to advance
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bilingual education.

There was ongoing communication with
the Amaujaq Centre’s Inuit language
specialist; | believe the position was
called. However, the individual has since
left the position and ITK is looking to
replace that individual. The
communication has stopped for now in
terms of that work just to keep each other
informed on what we’re doing. Thank
you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the same activity report,
you indicate that you met with a
representative from the Pirurvik Centre.
Can you indicate what your discussions
with this representative entailed? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: At the time, | was looking to
see who could deliver a full immersion
Inuktut program. | was hearing from
various youth organizations that they
want access to programs to learn Inuktut.
I was seeing who could potentially
deliver them and trying to coordinate that
to make that happen and also meeting
with Department of Culture and Heritage
officials to ensure that the funding
pockets that they have would fit a full
immersion program if an organization
was to take it on. That was the purpose of
that meeting, to learn what Pirurvik was
doing and what their long-term goal was
in terms of Inuit language courses. So
that’s that meeting. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.
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Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the same activity report,
you indicate that you met with the
Minister of Education to discuss
orthography issues. Given your work to
monitor the delivery of language services
in Nunavut’s education system, public
and private sector organizations, and
municipalities, can you indicate what
your position is regarding the issue of the
standardization of the Inuit language
writing system? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: It is certainly an area where
we need to start working towards
unifying the writing system. | have been
communicating with the new chair of
Inuit Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit to
see how we can support that organization
with their work in this area because they
are mandated under the Inuit Language
Protection Act to deal with the
orthography question. It’s a difficult
question to tackle. I think, in Nunavut,
we’re going to have to work together to
ensure that the public is engaged and they
feel that they have taken part in deciding
what direction we want to take when it
comes to our orthography in Inuktut in
Nunavut. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the activity report, you
list a number of public outreach
initiatives that your office undertook and
participated in during the 2013-14 fiscal

Ab/PCSe OLMNJC): Sdb*al™®, ™ AoNse, C
<sg<qe,

qsd<qse (OLANJO): Sdb2al™, Ab/RPCse,
Cbda.oCA*a® Pobbo aaA%®/c PS/LINC
Ac*odSocnrbdt o CLo®

bNLsbNSbc D>aGse 5NE b DL < AC
bNL*~NN5Jd <L DSb>Icnose
AMNPNC® aPNeAPNDLAS 0a D

Ao <SAE Ao CSbebda™lL ALMededo< >
NresseNC>ZLYo? H]Le bd*o=oo.
QDAL BAC Shose CL*a ADAC
NNGDZ*LE R eNCa oL
AFLPHLAUSeADS? SdLeal™, AbYRDCSe,

AP/ RMPCSe OLNNJO): sd*al™, C <Sd<se, ™
AON5e,

AbNse ONMNUO): CLea

Acn<dna “cn<Ksbc®C>C AoAC NNGP>Y
IIPCPNC Y. CA%a AYRPCALDY® A DAC
Db>I/ o CAJ/cD>SeN¢C
bNLSbNNSbeCeY bbb a >bdC
AbY%®bea P SLLE CAPI DSbD>Ycnne
ADOAE DB/ A\SLUHPa e 0 L L®NJC
LPCDPL*LC. CL%a dASdS ALSgSeDd_ 5> s
002 bI7NbNMSC PY<o DY Shia<sese,
Csebbd<d Ac DCNSo<SLC <L
AcPyD>SBCP>PINo<SLC ac<P
ADSo <L LN SbDLP<AC NNGHI
DBCPHEC®NHJ IDBCHIL®NHIH*GC.
sgyeal™®, Ab/RPCE®,

Ab/PCSe OLANJC): Sdb*al™®, ™ AoNse, C
<Jsgqe,

qsd<qse (OLANJO): Sdbeal™, Ab/RDCse,
Ctda.o \A%a® Pobbo C®bbdo™L
SH>AbHETPNPNT® SboACD>HCe D>Sosa®

A AYACPGAS APLPNIL AT Sab <L 5%GC
AcDOPYDYLYAoSa® 2013-14

60




year. Can you indicate how you measure
the effectiveness of your office’s public

outreach initiatives? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: It’s very difficult to measure
the effectiveness of public outreach. As
you know, Nunavut is sparsely populated
with the largest landmass in Canada and
we have not only different language
knowledge but also different literacy.
Orthography is one area where you have
the roman orthography as well as the
syllabic orthography. There isn’t much
information on the literacy levels of those
two groups.

Radio is often used as the major medium
for public outreach, but it’s difficult to
assess in terms of what information
you’re putting out, whether people
understand or getting that information.
We have discussed in our office how we
can... . Even just the question of “Is our
public outreach directly attributable to the
number of concerns that we receive?” We
don’t know. The number of concerns we
receive goes up and down every year and
there doesn’t seem to be any kind of
consistency for different reasons.

The other language commissioners have
actually asked that very question that
you’re asking in terms of how we find
out the effectiveness of public outreach.
Are the number of concerns related to the
public outreach that you do? It’s an area
that’s not really known and so | can only
guess an answer. All of that to say | don’t
know how effective our public outreach
is. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
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Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Can you indicate what
challenges, if any, your office is facing in
relation to publicizing your office’s
various roles and distinguishing these
duties from those of the Department of
Culture and Heritage and the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: Would he be able to repeat
the question, please.

Chairperson: Mr. Akoak, can you repeat
the question, please.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Can you indicate what
challenges, if any, your office is facing in
relation to publicizing your office’s
various roles and distinguishing these
duties from those of the Department of
Culture and Heritage and the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: We recognized early on that
as the Office of the Languages
Commissioner, people often assumed that
we’re an interpreting/translating
organization. When the previous
Languages Commissioner came on, she
changed the name of the organization in
Inuktut. I believe it used to be called
“Uqausilirijikkut Allavinga,” which does
sound like you’re interpreting or
translating. She ensured that the name
was changed to include the commissioner
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aspect.

Because there are three organizations that
are mandated to deal with the language,
Inuit Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit, our
office, and the Minister of Languages,
people confused the different roles.
That’s why we decided to create a poster
that explains our different roles. We sent
that to all the schools during Language
Week. | actually can’t remember where
else it was sent, whether it was sent to all
the post offices in Nunavut or not. |
would have to verify that.

Also, during language weeks, we make a
point, when we are on CBC doing our
public outreach or Qanuq Isumavit with
the Inuit Broadcasting Corporation, that
we all appear and explain our different
roles so that people can associate our
faces with the different roles that we have
or our voice with the different roles that
we have.

We have been making an effort during
language weeks to heighten the public
outreach and ensure that we are on radio
at the same time explaining our roles.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the activity report of your
2013-14 annual report, you indicate that
you issued a press release regarding the
need for better language funding from the
federal government in August of 2013.
Can you indicate why this press release is
not currently available on your office’s
website? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
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Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: Yes, our website is quite out
of date and we have been working to
update it. Our public affairs position is
currently vacant. | have asked if there’s
any way of filling the public affairs
position because we’ve had to advertise it
twice now. One of the questions | have
asked our corporate division is whether
we can contract out updating our website.
The accessibility of press releases is one
aspect of needing to update our website.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In your August 22, 2013
press release, you stated that “if the
federal government is genuine in their
interest on economic development and
social progress for Nunavut, then
language revitalization and protection
must be properly funded” and that there
is “a need to fund education curriculum
development and creation of material,
early childhood programs, adult
immersion programs, as well as all media
outlets in Nunavut.”

In your view, what specific government
positions, programs, and offices need to
be created or funded in Nunavut to
adequately facilitate Inuit language
revitalization and protection in the
territory? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: My position is that the
federal government should at least match
what the Government of Nunavut is
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spending to protect and revitalize the
Inuit language. The state of our language
is largely due to assimilation policies of
the past that we’re all aware of, which
continue to affect the state of the
language. In order to start reversing
language loss, it’s going to take a lot of
effort and resources. My position has
been that whatever the Government of
Nunavut is spending to protect and
revitalize the language, the federal
government should at least match that
amount. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In your annual report, you
indicate that your office undertook
systemic investigation telephone and

personal interviews during April of 2013.

Can you clarify if these interviews were
related to your office’s systemic
investigation at the Qikigtani General
Hospital and how many interviews in
total were conducted? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: If I may have a moment.

There were 51 people that were
interviewed: 14 physicians, 8 hospital
interpreters, 6 nurses, 10 supervisors,
managers, and directors, 12 members of
Nunavut communities, including 8
Inuktitut speakers and 4 French speakers,
3 laboratory technicians, and 8 Nunavut
organizations. So that was 51 individuals
in total. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.
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Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. You also indicate that your
office worked with the Nunavut Bureau
of Statistics to create a private sector
survey in June of 2013. Can you clarify
the timeline in which your office began
and completed the development of this
survey? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: I’m not actually sure when
the survey was conducted, but we were
very careful in how we formulated the
survey and that’s why we worked with
the bureau of statistics. |1 would have to
look for that information a bit more. |
don’t have it at hand. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Can you indicate if your
office is currently working with the
Nunavut Bureau of Statistics to develop
any additional surveys related to
language use and services in the
territory? That will be my last question,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: If we had another survey that
we were formulating and felt that we
needed assistance in formulating the
questions, we would probably go back to
the Nunavut Bureau of Statistics for
guidance. Because trying to obtain
information is a very specialized area, the
information you receive depends on how
you ask the questions. We recognized at
the time that it’s not something that our

qsd<qse (OLANJO): Sdb2al™, AbYRD>Ce, Cbdd
0a 2T aNANGegb CLE*LC @M abD o¢
Sb>ANSoSbIdN DG Yo 2013-%UNd.
QOAAPQBADS
SprLbdynSbSo e DeCHLa®, Sb*LbdC

AP DSLELC NNSSASY T <L Sb™L
ALASCDC DL Coa G®peAeC>o L
SOD>ANPND<. Sd*al®, AbYRPCSH,

Ab/PCSe (OLANJC): Sdy>al™®, C <sg<dse. ™
AONSH,

A6N® OLANJY): Coa Sb>ALc CC*Mq bdC
AASbASGSe Shl, ID®CH>cSL L PY<lo

DA ACNG A DGEC Sbose Py s <N
AASbASGSe Sh>M\Sose, CAL*a

AcnSbNsbe >>JC A NAXo. Cbd<
SPoNSbSa<IGbPE. SdLeal™®, AbYRUCS®,

AP/ RMPCSe OLNNYO): sd2al®, ™ AdN®, MC
<sd<tse,

dsd<d OLANJO): Sdreal®, AbYRD>CS,

QDA A®ILTq PAC 2o NNGSH

ASPba AYSBNHSLALE 0a DT PLcrdo<seNbd o
~ao %N 5N JA®ANPRG® SH>NLD>NeLeG®
<D<oSbeI b DSb>YSIC ID5bCCosIC
AMNPNSHSTS1 5> 0a 2. Coa

P LY JATINONG, AP/ UL,

Ab/PCSe (OLMNJO): sdy*al™®, C sdds. ™
AN,

AbNse ONMNJC): CALc Sb>ANAPbegSaPeC
<L AAL*oPeC Ab<®CP{L*oP<C
JdASdNENa® NaNHC ALL®b DNGLeDJC,
0a 2 PclodtNed® o¢ Ab®CPLLC
ARNMOd ADA*aP*MLE CL%a.
Acn7>NOd NJParN“DC DNLANo,
ALYDC LM LablLUYSLE Sbo™ JASdIN
<SdaPNPegsLEUeADL, HL 5eCD>®
Ach®/c PP/LLC CAN Lo

66




office specializes in and that we would
need guidance. To answer the question,
yes, we would go to the bureau of
statistics again just to seek guidance.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Good afternoon. In
the activity report of your annual report,
you indicate that your office was
discussing language services in the health
sector with the Office of the Welsh
Language Commissioner. | don’t know
what that office is. Can you indicate what
specific resources or information you
were able to gain from these discussions
and how this information may benefit
your office’s work to monitor and advise
language services in Nunavut’s health
sector? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, that
wasn’t me, but it was one of my officials
who had discussions with their officials.
It was with respect to the actual questions
related to the survey or what specific
services were reviewed, evaluated, and
what they found related to the complaint
of not being serviced in their language in
the hospital and what kind of problems
that creates. | believe this was the most
difficult survey to complete regarding
language services at the hospital and
trying to get information as it also
included universities’ archives on what is
called (interpretation ends) research
(interpretation) in English, in conducting
queries about past research studies on this
issue as well as the published results.
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When we received the information and
reviewed the past research results, we
were able to come up with
recommendations by better
understanding the context and were able
to deliberate on recommendations to the
government that outlined the steps
required to provide these essential
language services. In cases where
inadequate language service is provided,
it has repercussions beyond the lack of
provision of language services.

As an example, if | were to register as a
patient at the hospital or a health centre
and my English was limited, without an
interpreter/translator to assist me in
understanding the doctor or nurse’s
medical diagnosis, | couldn’t ask the
relevant questions. | wouldn’t understand
what procedures the doctors were talking
about performing. This can be very
dangerous, in my opinion. That is why
wading through these research results
caused our team to find the results that
laid the foundation for our report. This is
just an example of where a person might
go to the hospital or a health centre with
a limited ability to communicate in
English and who might only have enough
comprehension for conversational
English, but nothing complicated.

The patient’s inability to be understood
or for them to fully comprehend the
medical issue isn’t our only challenge.
Misunderstanding medical requirements
can lead to further complications. Also, if
a patient doesn’t understand the dosage
or scheduled course of a medication or
other health requirements of them in
order to fully heal, it can be detrimental
to their health.

Through using the information we
received from these universities and with
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their support, we were able to find the
type of research information relevant to
our requirements and we have included
some of it in our report. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Before | move on to
the next question, let me ask a question
about this issue. Can we get a copy of the
report you referenced? If | wanted to read
a copy of the research that was done by
your office, can | get a copy? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, | can
send it to your attention or rather to all
the Members if they would like a copy.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq. We
look forward to that information. Mr.
Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Perhaps for your
convenience and to ensure that there is no
duplication, you can send that report to
our Chairperson and she can distribute
that information to the Members. If you
direct it to the Chairperson, it would be
the simplest way.

Moving on, in the activity report of your
annual report, you indicate that your
office received a number of enquiries
from individuals and public and private
offices, including Community and
Government Services, the Government of
Nunavut Parks Division, a school board,
a radio station, a union office, and
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Nunavut Tourism. Following your
office’s initial response, can you indicate
if your office has followed up with any of
these individuals or offices to ensure that
their concerns were addressed? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Our office is
always improving. At the end of the day,
we usually make plans and that’s why we
opened up a position so that there will be
a project manager. It’s not a director or a
coordinator, but an employee who will be
working on research issues so that we can
monitor them. We’re trying to make
improvements on that in our office.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Maybe | didn’t
clearly understand the answer. After a
concern has been submitted, do you
follow up with the individuals or offices
to update them on the progress in
addressing their concerns? Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiqg.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Our
recommendations are usually included in
our annual report. Further, with regard to
the recommendations, we have to report
on the progress of those
recommendations. Also, there is a review
conducted every five years on what the
status is of our recommendations. We
also want to list any actions towards
them. That’s where we are at today.
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Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. You recommended
that the Minister of Languages
collaborate with the Department of
Economic Development and
Transportation and the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit to provide
“adequate and appropriate support for
terminology development, training as
well as software requirements” for
private sector entities that provide
essential services, including
pharmaceutical services.

During your previous appearance before
this standing committee last year, this
issue was discussed at length and, at that
time, you stated that you have noted in
your review of this situation cases in
which incorrect descriptions and varying
dialects of Inuktitut may be creating
confusion for clients seeking
pharmaceutical services.

Can you indicate if your office is
currently undertaking any ongoing
initiatives to monitor the language
services that are provided by pharmacies
in Nunavut, as we had discussed last
year, and if so, have you observed any
progress in this area? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation):
Pharmaceuticals are sort of dealt with in
two ways in Nunavut. There are the
hospital or health centre pharmacies and
then there are also three private
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businesses that offer that service.

We have been talking to the university
student who is doing the study. If they set
up a computer database, there would be
rules that they have to follow to ensure
that nobody gets the wrong medication in
the communities. | believe that if it is set
up like that, it may be worked on more
easily. That’s why we decided to start a
computer database for those
terminologies.

The pharmaceutical industry would list
the English name of a given medication
and the Inuktitut equivalent would be
listed in the column beside it. The dosage
of medication and instructions would be
included on the label, such as how many
pills you’re supposed to take, whether or
not to take them with food, and so on.
Those are the kinds of instructions that
would be on the labels. They would also
provide information stating that if you’re
taking this type of medication, it can’t be
mixed with that type of medication and
things like that.

They should be put into a computer
database and be available to be read
because some pharmacies have stated that
it’s very difficult to find Inuktitut-
speaking pharmacists. All the
communities do not have pharmacies
where people can offer the service in
Inuktitut. That’s why we made that
recommendation. Maybe if a database is
set up, then that could help. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutiq. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. You also have a
recommendation that “the Minister of
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Languages and Executive Council bring
into force sections 3 to 5 of the Inuit
Language Protection Act, which will
require public sector bodies,
municipalities, and private sector bodies
in Nunavut to provide signage,
advertising, and public services in the
Inuit language.

As a result, your office may see an influx
of admissible concerns from the public
and a greater interest in the support
services that your office can provide to
organizations. You have said that you’ve
had constant capacity issues and you
have never been able to fill all of your
positions. If you had everybody working
and all your positions filled, would you
be able to bring into force sections 3 to
5? In your view, does your office
currently have the capacity to meet the
potential increase in demand for your
services? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiqg.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): We have
tried to plan for that and to have a staff
member take care of those kinds of
concerns. The person would deal with
certain types of concerns and delegate
different concerns to another employee.
There would be an indication where we
would have to write to a person or body
again to do follow-up and also to make
sure our recommendations were dealt
with. Once we filled that position, then
that person would be able to make sure
that all the concerns brought to my office
were dealt with. That person would be
the coordinator of these concerns. Thank
you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
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Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you. |
only wish. We will expect that as well.

Another possible recommendation that
you made was that “the Minister of
Languages work with appropriate bodies
towards establishing an accredited
translation bureau,” like an office that
will work with different languages. |
would call it a translator, but then there
are the Inuktitut, French, and English
languages that we have to deal with. It
would be like a liaison person. If it’s a
one person job and all sorts of concerns
come to that person and try to use
standardized terminology for this, which
is what | believe you’re thinking, the
question | have is: can you indicate if
your office keeps a list of accredited
translators and interpreters in the
territory? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): What do we
have? | don’t understand the question.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): He asked,
(interpretation ends) can you indicate if
your office keeps a list of accredited
translators and interpreters in the
territory? Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): | was asking
my staff person here and I didn’t hear the
rest of the question. I’m sorry. No, we
don’t have a list. That is the
responsibility of the Inuit Ugausinginnik
Taiguusiliugtiit to compile a list of
accredited interpreter/translators and also
a list of interpreter/translators that are
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properly trained. Taiguusiliugtiit would
take care of that list. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you.
Let me ask this question now. You’re
stating that that’s the way it is, that it is
the responsibility of the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit. They are
supposed to take care of that. However,
with your office, the fact that
interpreter/translators can be accredited
and try to have standardized terminology,
especially in Inuktitut, have you spoken
to the Inuit Ugausinginnik
Taiguusiliugtiit about this matter? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiqg.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): | met with
them as some of their board members are
new and | told them that I will be making
certain recommendations to give them a
heads up and | have done that with
Taiguusiliugtiit. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutiq. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you.
The Inuit Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit
works with languages too. Within a year,
how many times do you meet or talk with
that group? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Since | have
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started, | have met with their board
members three times. In 2015, | have met
with them twice so far. They have made
improvements to the way the board is set
up and they try to get information from
us as to what kind of concerns we have
received. We plan on talking with them
on a monthly basis because they have a
coordinator now. We planned with the
previous coordinator where they had an
Inuugatta committee coordinator. Our
staff worked with their staff pretty
regularly, but not me. We usually start
planning for Language Week around
November or December, so we have
meetings and that’s how it works. Thank
you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Are you done, Mr. Enook?
Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. It’s my turn to ask
questions.

In the private sector report of your 2014-
15 annual report, you indicate that your
office sent out a survey to 100 private
sector organizations and only received 17
responses. Can you indicate how often
your office plans to conduct this private
sector survey? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): We want it to
continue. We sent out 100 surveys to
private sector organizations and only 17
responded, but the surveyor told us that
they get very few replies most of the time
and that that is the typical number of
responses to a survey. Does that answer
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your question? We recommended that the
private sector has to provide services in
Inuktut. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. You answered part of the
question. You will be surveying the
private sector and if you’re going to do
that on an annual basis, how often do you
plan to do it within a year? You sent 100
copies of your survey out to private
sector organizations and received only 17
responses. Can you indicate how your
office will work to draw a higher number
of responses to its surveys in the future?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): We usually
call the departments of the Government
of Nunavut and we also send press
releases to the media. We also look after
private sector organizations and they
would just become part of our survey.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutiq. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. As you said earlier,
government staff and businesses in
Nunavut are involved. You indicated as
well, however, that these individuals are
adequately able to speak in Inuktitut, for
example, in Baker Lake, those who are
fluent in the local dialect.

After the surveys were conducted by your
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office on the Inuktitut fluency of staff,
were the numbers matching up with the
results? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): I’m sure the
number will be low, but there’s a
possibility that it may increase. I’m not
sure what the outcome would be or how
the numbers will vary in future surveys
with regard to private sector
organizations. Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. In your annual report, you
indicate that 65 percent of the
respondents to your office’s private
sector survey claimed to provide an
active offer of services in Inuktitut. Can
you clarify if your office contacted these
organizations to confirm if they were in
fact providing active offer of services in
the Inuit language? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): | believe it is
two separate issues. It has been said that
it is very difficult to recruit fluent
Inuktut-speaking workers. The other
issue is Inuit who can speak or
understand some Inuktut, but who would
like to get Inuktut language skills
training.

We have also seen the need to offer Inuit
language skills training, not only in
government but also for the public as
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well as our private sector businesses.
There are some who can speak
conversational Inuktitut, but who are
either ashamed or require more training
in order to become more proficient in
Inuktut. These are some of the challenges
we face in the private sector. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. You indicated earlier that
some departments and/or businesses
either do not have enough money to hire
people who can speak Inuktitut or have
difficulty retaining them. To date, how
many organizations have actually
requested assistance to complete a
language plan to date? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): As | pointed
out earlier, our office received 41
requests for assistance for the year 2012-
13. The staff member responsible as the
liaison for the private sector and for
providing notices to businesses left their
position, so that had to be taken over by
the communications officer. We currently
have eight older requests that we may
have a problem with fulfilling as some
Inuktitut language skills training requests
may no longer be valid.

I have also informed the Minister that
more Inuktitut language proficiency
training courses should be offered, not
just for public servants but also to the
general public.
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I don’t know if I answered his question or
if I understood it correctly. I’m not sure.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak, did that
answer your question? Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much. She responded to
my question in part. You indicate that
there were 41 requests in 2012-13. You
also indicated earlier that there were eight
requests for assistance. Since the duty has
been given to other personnel, are you
going to be able to actually assist with the
other 33 requests once you get that
position filled? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): When
businesses have questions, we’re always
available to help out. We have been
informing the Minister regularly about
the problems in implementing it when we
find that certain entities that should have
language plans don’t have them.

Not only for education and human
resources, but we know that
implementing it will be very costly to the
private sector. This includes producing
posters outside of buildings as well as
mailings in Inuktitut, and all that costs
money. | think the government should be
able to make financial assistance
available to the private sector and small
businesses in order to implement the Act
because they are the ones that don’t make
a lot of money.

When we find out that there are
problems, we encourage the Nunavut
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government to resolve them. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In your private sector
report, you indicate that 31 percent of the
respondents to your office’s private
sector survey indicated that their
organizations have already begun
planning for the coming into force of
relevant sections in the Inuit Language
Protection Act.

Can you indicate if any organizations of
the remaining 69 percent of organizations
provided an explanation as to why they
may not be planning for the coming into
force dates of the Inuit Language
Protection Act? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Let me look
for it.

With the numbers, we didn’t get a lot of
replies. Yes, 31 percent stated that their
organizations have already begun
planning for the coming into force of
relevant sections. | can’t respond to the
remaining 69 percent and why they’re not
planning for the coming into force date at
the moment. | have to look at the survey
results because | don’t have them with
me. | could look into it and respond later.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutiq. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
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Chairperson. If you’re going to provide a
response at a later date, maybe you can
also take this into consideration. In your
report, you indicate, and | quote, “despite
their importance to the health and safety
of their clients, the provision of Inuktut
among particular services does not appear
to be much different from that of the
other businesses.”

Can you clarify how the Inuit language
services between general private sector
organizations and those providing
particular services are not “much
different” and how, in your view, the
services provided by these types of
organizations should differ? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: Can | just ask what page he
is quoting from so that | can answer it
properly? Thank you.

Chairperson: Mr. Mikkungwak, what
page were you quoting from?

Mr. Mikkungwak: I believe it is 147 or
146. Thank you.

Chairperson: Ms. Inutiqg.

Ms. Inutiq: Can he repeat the question?
What was the question relating to the
second paragraph on 146?

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In your private sector
report, you indicate that “despite their
importance to the health and safety of
their clients, the provision of Inuktut
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among particular services does not appear
to be much different from that of the
other businesses.”

Can you clarify how the Inuit language
services between general private sector
organizations and those providing
particular services are not “much
different” and how, in your view, the
services provided by these types of
organizations should differ? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiqg: The Inuit Language
Protection Act identifies businesses or
government entities that provide
particular services and these services are
considered to have a higher impact on
people’s lives. This is section 3(2) under
the Inuit Language Protect Act. It lists
particular services, including essential
services such as emergency rescue,
urgent services, dispatch, and also lists
household, residential, or hospitality
services such as restaurants, hotels,
lodgings, basic services to households
such as electricity, fuel, water, and
telecommunications. Those entities are
listed because the Act seems to recognize
that they have a higher impact on
people’s lives. They then have a more
onerous obligation to be vigilant. That’s
what that paragraph is saying.

Even though those particular services that
I just listed and the importance they have
on the health and safety of people... .
Their level of readiness doesn’t seem to
be different from other businesses. The
Act recognizes that they’re more
important in terms of the kind of impact
they have, that they should be in a
position to comply more than other
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businesses. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. Along the same lines, you
raise concerns that organizations and
individuals are not aware of the
respective mandates of the Office of the
Languages Commissioner and the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit. In
response to a question from one of my
colleagues, you stated that you have
developed posters and participated in
radio shows. With that, how do your
office and the office of the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit publicize
its respective mandates and services that
are required so that Nunavummiut will be
more aware? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): | believe it
has been longer than a year now where
we have used Facebook to get more
exposure. As we know, many of our
people in Nunavut post on Facebook, so
we have made it part of our effort to be
more accessible by using this medium.

We also focus on events such as
Language Week, where we collaborate
with the various radio stations in Nunavut
to offer broadcasting information or ads
in papers such as Nunatsiaq News and
News North. We publicize our contact
information, our mandate, as well as our
availability and different contact means if
anyone has any language-related
concerns.
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We are aware of the need to be more
exposed in the public eye. We are also
looking at email surveys as well as using
the World Wide Web to advertise our
website that is connected to our offices.
We need to work on our webpage. We
don’t have a communications officer, so
it has been difficult.

The Qikigtani Inuit Association produces
publications and we also had an article in
there. We try to gear it more toward Inuit
or French. We try to produce our own
newsletters. We recently did that. Perhaps
these avenues are readily available in
other publications. People are already
familiar with those publications and
already read them. That’s where we stand
right now. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. Perhaps you could consider
your comment about Facebook for
younger people and we who are middle
aged understand that, but since we got
Nunavut, the elders are still around. They
also need to be informed and need to
understand.

Thinking about the elders in all of
Nunavut, including the Baffin, Kivalliq,
and Kitikmeot, and as my colleague was
asking questions, | know you responded
by saying that you are short staffed. Have
you considered hiring more employees to
provide more information?

Not all people have computers.
Computers cost money and you need to
pay for Internet connection on a monthly
basis. It’s obvious that some people can’t
afford it. Can you consider different
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avenues of communication with
Nunavummiut? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, what
you’re saying is true. When it comes to
elders, we consider the different ways of
communicating with them. They have the
least language services available to them
and that probably makes them the most
vulnerable. We would like to be given
ideas on how we can communicate better
with elders and unilingual Inuit. If you
have any ideas or if you want to have
discussions with us, we’re always
available. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. The reason why | brought
this up is Baker Lake is one of the
communities with the most elders in
Nunavut. | urge you to consider that.

I will ask a supplementary question to
that. You state that “the lack of
translators continues to plague the private
sector” and | agree with you somewhat.
You also state that “this is compounded
by the absence of an accreditation
authority for translators of Inuktut.” My
colleague asked a question earlier about
providing training programs to accredit
translator/interpreters and that it hasn’t
been set yet.

In your view, to what extent should the
Government of Nunavut, through the
Ministers of Languages and the Official
Languages Division of the Department of
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Culture and Heritage, be responsible for
providing this accreditation authority?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): The Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit needs to
set the direction and standards for testing
proficiency in Inuktut. As well, it can
include the interpreting and translating
program requirements.

The whole issue of properly educated
workers and proficiency in both
languages applies to the interpreter and
translator accreditation challenges as it
can have dire consequences, as we found
out during our hospital investigation.
Their interpreter/translators are
categorized as simple office staff with a
starting salary of $56,000. If they had the
recognized accreditation for medical
interpreters, they can make upwards of
$82,000 annually.

The challenge is facing the disparity of
abilities in the interpreter/translator field.
Interpreters deserve to have their pay
increased to go along with their
accreditation and training. The current
disparity in the range of language skills
was very apparent during our hospital
language services investigation. Thank
you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutiq. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. Regarding your response,
that leads to my next question. As you
indicated earlier, there is a huge disparity
in language skills among
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interpreter/translators that is out there.

With respect to the workers who are just
started, as their education and training
increases their level of pay would follow.
This also applies to translators and
certification processes. As workers are
trained, this would include terminology
courses.

With that being the case, are you able to
provide details or plans towards any
regional language courses that can be
offered to departments or organizations? |
know that you have met with
stakeholders about language issues, as a
focus group met in 2012 about these
issues. Are you able to provide any
details about competency in different
dialects, as there are obviously quite a
few, and how competency can be dealt
with? Are there any plans? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): The Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit has to
take responsibility and deal with this. |
can’t really answer the question and
maybe you can ask it when IUT appears
before you. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In your annual report, you
indicate that the private sector liaison
officer position in your office ended in
June of 2013 and that this position was
responsible for informing the private
sector of its responsibilities under the
language legislation. In your view, will
your office have the capacity to continue
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this work in the absence of a private
sector liaison officer? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: | touched on it a bit earlier.
Some of the responsibilities of the private
sector liaison officer were transferred to
the public affairs officer.

With the other aspect, we have changed
the position of the private sector liaison
officer to project manager in anticipation
of the private sector complying and to
ensure that the concerns that our office is
receiving are better managed and also
seeing trends when there are a number of
concerns in certain areas to determine if
we need to do a systemic investigation.

We have been reorganizing our office in
anticipation of the private sector to
comply. The person that would assist the
private sector in giving information and
language planning would be the public
affairs officer. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. Thank you for your
explanation regarding communication.
Can you indicate how your office plans
to close this information gap and
continue to engage with the private
sector? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): | was talking
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about the document on how to act on
recommendations. We have stated that
we want to make sure that the private
sector understands the process. We will
have to consider how we will be
distributing that information to the
private sector. It could benefit the private
sector and at least they can visualize what
their language obligations are.

We had to work on the consultation
process in three stages. | believe the work
has been done. Once the Act has been
implemented, it can be dealt with by the
public affairs officer. | believe that it has
been completed. Although we want the
communications officer to continue... .
How do | say it correctly? It could be the
private sector liaison officer. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak, are you
done? We will take a 15-minute break.
Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 15:05 and
resumed at 15:23

Chairperson: Welcome back. The next
on my list is Mr. Enook. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Since we’re
reviewing the annual report, | would like
to ask a question. You indicate that your
office had decided to continue to monitor
progress to deliver Inuit language
instruction from kindergarten to grade 4
or 5. Can you provide an update on the
results of your office’s work in this area?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiqg.
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Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Are you
talking about the education research? For
the 2014-15 annual report, the systemic
investigation for the Qikigtani General
Hospital will be included and it will also
include the education part of it. For the
2015-16 annual report, an investigation
mostly on education will be published in
that report. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | will just wait
patiently for that report and it is my
understanding that those items will be
included.

Moving on, in your report, you indicate
that your office decided not to complete a
report on the availability of
communications and services provided
by municipalities due to capacity issues.
Did your office complete this work in the
2014-15 fiscal year as anticipated? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, |
alluded to them. We sent the survey to
the communities, but there was no
response.

I went to speak with NAM when they
held their AGM in Cambridge Bay in
October last month in regard to this issue.
I met with the municipal officials during
the meeting that was held here in Igaluit
and | reminded them again. We sent the
surveys to the communities and that it
would be beneficial to get a response so
that we can have a better indicator of
what the status is at the local level where

AoNse: A Cedd Ac®o<®dcnosc
bD>ANST®? CA®QAC 2014-15 <SGJcLsT
DN®NCNRNDC GEa<dAD< Sb>MSo*L_oC
D>obbbe_®Do. <AL Ac*LJC

Ac®o <D oIS DSb>Inc PeCDC
CAbG . n“Ho. 2015-16 Ac*od®dcno ¢
Sh>ANSoSe Co AT LI o8 DSbD>YSbe SeDC
QSCJICLe/DNENo NoPgPC. SdY*al™,
AbIRDCsb,

A/ RU>CS®: sdboal®, ™ AN, MC Ao,

Aob: sdboal®, Ab/U>CSe,
D>CPCNAIOIAQ S L CAPIL NP<<C
CAba ASB?D>NPILE DS CAL®@ DPYSdSL.

ba/ %L, CAPI Dobb™Y*o a s AS//L %L
Ld< aLULo<sL+LC DNBLSbeC>Nose
Acn’<No“H*0C ArNPCPKC oacro,
LR]RLGC_%UNoT®bA
Acn<n LY g DS/ D J%®

Acn9NbE 54U PP<do Clo JAMY*L<C
2014-15 Ab<o CL*a Acndn/La/DP?
sdy>al®, Ab/RUC,

A/ UCSe: sdhbeal®, MC Aod, M AbdNS,

ADN%®: A, DODINA“CEHD>RED, b>ASoe
dA®INTE P oac™o°
a ®’D>NC>PLLOISENS, PRLDILLC,

LAYAC bNMNC DShec APP<IeDc >GoPC

ASb oINS NN Lo <I<D>N Y
CePc DeCNeo Co LS Mo
DDA L, <Ll LRLGE U GPeCAC
Ld< A%ba AL®N*NC P> CNAPSHECeCHEb
bNSbNPPONE BSbec SAPP<I®D >Y4, Lo
bNLNSSNC Sh>ANSTD>< [P oC BSb>N5NC
ab?DRANYLLENJS PDYI>NMQ 5eDL 5<%-c < 5C
4L DNPo<eCr L Sb>ANSoD>< al csL*LeC
aOa AT oacC <L Ldd <>PCP<ReDC

91




the problem areas are.

To date, 1 don’t think any one of them
have responded to the survey. Karliin is
working on that. We’re considering
making phone calls and asking questions
rather than just sending out a survey
correspondence. We will probably get a
better response that way. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | don’t know if this
IS a question, but first of all, your office
can work diligently only if they respond
to your surveys or research. It would be
very beneficial if we respond to surveys
or questionnaires. We can get a better
understanding and it could provide better
services that way. | urge Nunavummiut
to respond to surveys that are being sent
out to the communities. | believe that
that’s better, if there is no other way.

As you stated, you’re starting to consider
making phone calls rather than sending
out surveys. When do you expect to start
making the phone calls? What would be
the foundation for your decision? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): We wanted
to get a response by November 12. | was
away for a bit, so we hardly discussed
this matter. Once this hearing is over,
Karliin and | will be able to consult with
each other as to what the next steps will
be. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
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Ms. Inutig. Are you finished? Mr. Tom
Sammurtok.

Mr. Tom Sammurtok (interpretation):
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.
Welcome. (interpretation ends) | only
have a few questions here.

However, in your annual report, you state
that the preliminary report on your
office’s systemic investigation of the
quality of Inuit and French language
services and communications at the
Qikigtani General Hospital - | think you
referenced that a few times this afternoon
- has been completed. You say that it
“will be sent to the Department of Health
for comments on recommendations,”
after which a final report will be
completed.

First of all, can you indicate if your office
has received comments from the
Department of Health and, if so, when
will you provide a final report on this
investigation to this House? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: Yes, | have received
comments from the Department of
Health. The report is complete and so
now we are going through the process of
designing our annual report and having it
translated and then printed. We hope to
table the 2014-15 annual report, with the
appendix of the systemic investigation, in
the Legislative Assembly in January.
That’s my hope right now. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you. Mr.
Sammurtok.
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Mr. Tom Sammurtok: Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. You indicated that
your office was unable to hold meetings
with the francophone organizations
during the 2013-14 fiscal year due to
staff shortages. Can you indicate if your
office was able to hold meetings with any
francophone organizations in the 2014-15
fiscal year? Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutiqg.

Ms. Inutiq: Would the Member be able
to provide me where that is stated? Thank
you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Tom Sammurtok: Sorry. | believe
it’s in 162 or 163.

Chairperson: Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: I’m just trying to find the
reference the Member is making. If you
can just give me a moment.

Chairperson: | believe it’s 163 under
results. You talk about getting a staff
shortage resulted in extra work for the
investigation. There were no meetings
with the francophone organizations. Ms.
Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: What happened was the
investigator/researcher for the French
language was the main person working
on the systemic investigation. That took
her away from some of the activities that
we had hoped for her to take part in. Now
that the systemic investigation is
complete, she has resumed her regular
duties, as of date. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.
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Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Tom Sammurtok (interpretation):
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.
(interpretation ends) For now, this will be
my last question. In this report, you state
that one of your office’s one-time
initiatives for the 2013-14 fiscal year was
to complete research to, and I quote,
“provide recommendations supporting
the linguistic needs and rights of children
in Nunavut in anticipation of the
comprehensive review of the Child Care
Act and the Inuit Language Protection
Act.” You also indicate that your office
has completed much of this research and
will complete further analysis and report
writing for this initiative in the 2015-16
fiscal year. Can you explain some of the
preliminary findings of your office’s
research in this area? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: As | indicated earlier, our
2015-16 annual report will focus on
education, including early childhood
education. Some of our projects have had
to be postponed due to staffing issues, as
well as the focus on trying to complete
the systemic investigation.

If you can imagine 51 interviews of half
an hour and trying to pull quotes just
from those interviews alone, and the
research that was done trying to create
expectation standards of language
services for multilingual services, we
were actually quite overwhelmed by the
level of work by the systemic
investigation.

That took away from some of the work
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that we had hoped to do, including the
work on education. | decided that the
annual report for 2015-16 will focus on
education. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. The first question that |
would like to ask is looking at this whole
thing from the outside and looking at the
year 2013-14, you went to southern
Canada and overseas. In the coming year,
so that the people of Nunavut will
understand your office better, are you
planning to visit the smaller communities
more? There are 25 communities in
Nunavut. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): For those
years, 2013-14 and 2014-15, we didn’t
really plan to visit the communities
because | was not quite sure of what |
was going to do. | expected the review of
the Act. The Inuit Language Protection
Act states that after five years, the Act is
supposed to be reviewed. | thought it was
going to be reviewed, so | waited to see
what would happen. I didn’t know what
was going to happen, so I didn’t do much
planning to go to the communities. If
they are planning to go to the
communities, |1 would want to be
involved. | was going to take part in any
community tour and that’s why | didn’t
make any plans.

However, to date, in this year... . Hold
on. The previous year, | went to the
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Kivalliq to Arviat, Rankin Inlet, and
Baker Lake. | stated earlier that | was in
Cambridge Bay in March and | went
there again last month. Keeping the
communities informed and being visible
and being known about is important.

I just wanted to say that because | was
expecting the Act was going to be
reviewed, | was just waiting, so I didn’t
make any plans to visit the communities
in 2013-14 and 2014-15. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. As the Languages
Commissioner of Nunavut, it has to be
dealt with carefully.

Also on page 129 of your report, looking
at the figure, there are 31,770 Nunavut
residents. However, it states there that
“Inuktut is the mother tongue of 21,225
people.” It also states, “Within that
population 16,490 say they speak Inuktut
at home.” Looking at those figures, it’s
pretty much half of the people. As the
Office of the Languages Commissioner,
do you have any concerns about that?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): The two
Language Acts were enacted to protect
the languages. They envisioned it
applying to language in the home, in the
media and telecommunications, such as
TV and radio language provision so that
language can be everywhere. This also
applies to the private sector to offer
proper Inuktitut services, to offer proper
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Inuktut language programs in schools, as | Ac*o<®dcno, Ao

well as the different programs and Ac®o<®NENENL NG, Lo LRLAIC
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visibility and use of Inuktut in a more /\;nqbn‘; ) a’b . & 4?6\l>< N
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and rise of language proficiencies. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Moving right along, you
indicate that your office will conduct a
survey to determine the number of
employees of territorial institutions that
can work in the Inuit language, know
their language rights, have access to
information in the Inuit language, and
report workplace discrimination related
to the use of the Inuit language. Can you
indicate if this survey has been conducted
to date and, if not, when do you plan to
begin and complete this survey? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): We said that
we will do that in 2016-17. We have to
put together the survey questionnaires
and they were in the 2011-12 or 2012-13
report. I’m not sure which one. We had to
revise the surveys. Once the
questionnaires are completed, we want to
have them completed by 2015-16. Thank
you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutiq. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. This will be my last
question. With this survey that you will
be conducting in 2015-16 and there are
25 communities in Nunavut, will it
include data from all communities?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): The survey
will be sent to all the hamlet councils and
the City of Igaluit, Madam Chairperson.
Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
(interpretation) Are you done, Mr.
Mikkungwak? Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Your 2013-14 annual report
was tabled in the Legislative Assembly
earlier this month, over a year and a half
after the end of the 2013-14 fiscal year.
Can you indicate when your office
completed this annual report and what
factors have contributed to it being tabled
over a year after the end of the fiscal
year? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: Once a fiscal year is done,
the Languages Commissioner has another
fiscal year within the next fiscal year to
table the annual report. Technically, yes,
it is seven months late. There were
several factors. When | started my job, |
asked all the staff to provide activity
reports. There was one month where a
person left and there was no activity
report, so we had to look through our
files and make sure that we were not
missing any activities. That was one
major factor.

Everything was done by last February
except the activity report. By then, it was
quite clear that we couldn’t meet the
deadline of March 31 because, even if
you’re done your annual report, you need
to have it designed, translated, and
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printed. By June, it was completed. From
June until November were the design,
translation, and printing. That’s the
general timeline of what happened.

The other factor is when you have
different staff starting, there is a learning
curve of the annual report writing and the
process of translations, and so on. There
are several factors and it’s not something
that I’m proud of and it’s something that
I really want to avoid for the next fiscal
year. Those are the factors. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In the 2014-15 work plan
included in your annual report, you
indicate that your office will review the
Auditor General of Canada’s 2013 report
on education in Nunavut and the Minister
of Languages’ annual report to determine
the number of schools with Inuit
language instruction. Does your office
have any plans to undertake its own
analysis of the status of Inuit language
instruction in Nunavut’s schools? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: Yes, as | indicated earlier,
the focus of our 2015-16 annual report
will be on education, so it will look at
early childhood education as well as
kindergarten to grade 12, to answer the
Member’s question. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Akoak.
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Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. This will be my last
question. In the 2014-15 work plan
included in your annual report, you refer
to the conference on language rights that
your office hosted with the Minister of
Languages in February of 2015. Can you
indicate how many participants attended
this conference and provide an overview
of the main outcomes of this conference?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: The Minister of Languages
prepared a report from that conference
and there were over 100 participants.
Some of the areas that were focused on
were discussions on the state of the Inuit
language, what’s being done well in
terms of trying to protect the language,
looking at how minority languages have
been revitalized around the world, and
also what needs to be done. Those were
the main areas of focus for that
conference. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq. Do
you have any more questions? Mr.
Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | have some
questions. In the investigation report of
your annual report, you indicate that your
office received a concern that a
candidate’s name was not available in
syllabics during an election and that you
have been “attempting to resolve the
matter informally.” Can you indicate if
this matter has been resolved and, if not,
can you provide an update on this issue?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
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Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, when
we heard about that incident, we looked
at solutions with the Office of the Chief
Electoral Officer. We thought it was
going to be easy to find a solution and we
decided that all ballots should be written
in Roman orthography. | had written a
letter to the chief electoral officer, but we
didn’t get a response from her office. It
was their lawyer who was responding to
me.

When you have to go through the court
system, I’m sure that happens. It is a
learning curve when you are dealing with
the court system. It doesn’t require a
formal agreement to achieve that since
the Languages Commissioner is already
there to carry out research. This is
something I learned from experience.
When this was brought to court, I learned
that they only responded through their
lawyer. They didn’t seem to have a lot of
work to do if only they had agreed. This
will be the case now.

I tried calling that person, but they
weren’t there. | wanted to talk with that
person without a lawyer to see if we can
come up with an agreement. Without
even sending an email or correspondence,
I tried to call that person directly to see if
we can come up with an agreement
through discussion. However, it just
seems to be hanging there now and it’s
unfortunate. Our lawyers correspond with
each other, even though this seems to be
an easy matter to agree to.

I think it will have to go through an
investigation, even though it doesn’t
seem to require much work. It’s
unfortunate. When | started dealing with
it, 1 didn’t want to force the issue. |
wanted agreement through dialogue. |
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was told that | was expected to do that. It
seemed that | was going too much by the
letter. Sometimes you have to do things
in a certain way, in my job, especially if
it’s going through the courts. | really
learned from that.

I’m not sure if I answered the question.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | believe your
response indicated that it hasn’t been
completed yet. | think I understood it in
that manner.

I would like to turn to another concern
and | want to ask about the status. In your
report, you indicate that your office
received a concern relating to
documentation that was provided in
English only by the Nunavut Impact
Review Board and that “there is an
ongoing communication” with them. Can
you indicate if this concern has been
resolved to date? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Enook.
Ms... (interpretation) | completely drew a
blank. Ms. Inutig. (interpretation ends) |
don’t know why I had a blank moment
for a while.

>>[ aughter

An Hon. Member: It’s four o’clock.
Chairperson: | know it’s tiring.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): As per my

earlier statement, the organizations or
(interpretation ends) institutes of public
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government (interpretation) within the
legislation, I am not sure if they have that
ability to enforce that for studies. That is
doubtful and it doesn’t really identify
which body has that authority. However,
the Nunavut Impact Review Board has
been informed about that language
concern that has been submitted to our
office.

We informed them that the report wasn’t
in Inuktut that was made publicly
available, only the executive summary.
We asked them what preparations or
plans they have to comply with the
legislation about proper service provision
in Inuktitut, especially when requesting
public opinion.

The executive director said they felt that
the executive summary contained enough
information for the public, that the
information contained sufficient detail,
and that most of the report was meant for
the information of the Minister. That was
the argument submitted for that concern.

Furthermore, it was also mentioned that
no budget was provided for any language
services other than interpretation at
public meetings for the Nunavut Impact
Review Board. It was noted that shortly
after the Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated lawsuit against the federal
government, funding for language
services has been added to all institutions
of public government. However, with
respect to different languages, | haven’t
yet looked into the details as to whether
they now have funding for translating
reports.

Further, the executive director also
mentioned that one of their difficulties in
trying to comply with Inuktitut language
translations is the shortage of
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interpreter/translators who are
knowledgeable about mining terminology
and technical details. They are
deliberating on ways to have the mining
terminology included in workshops or
how NIRB can be involved and have it
included in Arctic College courses. This
doesn’t seem to be a priority that should
be implemented right away, even though
they seem to be planning for it. NIRB is
facing roadblocks.

I have wanted more discussion on when
their funding is going to be increased, if
languages services are not there, that they
need to apply for funding. We really need
to show more support so that they can
provide services in Inuktut. That’s where
it stands right now. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. If you’re going to
have discussions with them, | think you
can also tell them that if they have a hard
time finding people who know the
mining terminology and they need
assistance, the interpreter/translators at
the Assembly know everything.

>>[ aughter

My question is in 2012-13, there were 15
concerns. In 2014-15, there were only
six. Is that good? Are you worried about
that? That’s why I’m asking the question
because I don’t know the answer. The
number of people who complained is
declining. Is it declining when people ask
for Inuktitut services? Is it because
services are getting better or are
Nunavummiut not informed enough
about their language rights? Is that why
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the numbers of complaints are down?
Would you have that information? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): | cannot tell
you why the number of complaints
dropped so much in 2013-14. It went
back up to 11 in 2014-15. | don’t know
why there were only six in 2013-14. |
think that in 2012-13, the Official
Language Act was passed and the public
was informed through the radio at that
time. Perhaps that got people thinking
that their language is officially
recognized now. They were informed of
the fact that there was an Office of the
Languages Commissioner.

Some of the languages commissioners in
Canada have expressed the need for
research on why complaints spike and
drop. It’s impossible to tell. The federal
languages commissioner found through
examining the data that one concern
submitted was actually representing 21
people who had also submitted the same
complaint. If there was any kind of
research similar to this work, | would
want to be involved, especially in
determining what reasons exist and what
exactly has to be publicized and how we
can disseminate this information.

I don’t think the number of complaints
about improper language service
provision will decrease. Also, one wants
to be open and welcoming or at least that
is the ideal practice. We want the public
to know about our office, our work and
mandate, as the protection of languages is
part of our work. This is the sole purpose
of this office and the only way we can do
our work is if people submit their
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complaints. Only then will improvements
be recommended and we can request
their compliance.

I have been talking for such an extended
period in trying to explain it to you that |
lost track.

>>| aughter
That’s it, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. I, too, am getting rather
forgetful probably because I’'m also tired.

>>| aughter

The one person whom we haven’t heard
from yet today is Mr. Rumbolt.
(interpretation ends) You’re on next, Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | just have a few quick
questions on the budget part of the report,
which is on page 179. One line item in
your budget, it says that you spent
$25,553 on travel. I’m wondering if you
can provide us a brief breakdown of how
that money was spent. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Rumbolt.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: For 2013-14, the travel
included going to Arctic Bay, Rankin
Inlet, Dublin, Ireland, and the trade show
in Ottawa. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you. Another line
item, it says that you spent $289,642 on

DSb>LD>SHCPC P ePe<c<Id*a *LC
CLedd NcPnd®a ™/ HCo.

<ddodod Pbcc®D*L Db>NaINe
So>pAL* O™

SIACc I
CAL, Ab/<D>Cse,

A/ RU>CS®: sdboal®, M ADBNS, QL HCH®
SAPINALCTI Lo CbRcC AL,

P>A“c.®IC

CAL D<o DNSANCDEPCDC D GE>C
(ONANJC) AR>S, C GL>C

GL>C OLNNJO): sdbsal™, Ab/PLse,

aADd %0 AAPINTHIA>Q DL

Pa PLseIPNEN od*LYo® Dobb S, LALS 179-
[ <ACDPY CRa PSP LLC D DG
$25,553-0 Sb*LCCP>NIo.oF.

D>obbP*a ®A®bA

Cvdd Abcdo*NMea®? sdyeal™®, Ab/RQPCe®,

Ab/PCSe (OLMNJO): Sdy>al™®, C GL>C M
AONSH,

AHNSe OLANJC): 2013-14-T
SoLCCHND>CDPIAC ASbYD>Ne D>e>C

APALN <SS IS, b Mo, Cic® <AJc®IC
4L atfonbo® CINNoD>c > I GOdr.
sgyeal™®, Ab/RPCE®,

Ab/RPCSe (ONMNJO): Sdv2al™, [ AN, MC
e,

GL>C ONNNJ9): Sdyeal™. CALc /<o
D>SbSe | d% $289,642-g7° <D DG Jse

108




contract services. | wonder if you can
explain to us what types of contract
services you obtained for this funding.
Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Rumbolt.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: The largest piece for that is
our rent, which is $223,000, and after
that, it’s our legal services, which was
$25,000, and the rest are things like
design and print of promotional items and
our annual report. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you. Another line
item is that you spent $34,833 on casual
wages, which is about 30 percent less
than the previous year. I’m just
wondering if you can explain what
accounts for the decrease in casual labour
dollars. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Rumbolt.
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq: | was anticipating the
question of who | hired as a casual. There
was an indeterminate position filled and
that was... . Wait, let me just take a
second to look at the staffing.

What caused the decrease is the less
hiring of casuals. There was a casual
hired from October to December and one
was there from April to July. Thank you,
Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq.
Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you. Don’t get me
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wrong, reducing the dollars in casual
wages is a good thing because we’re
always after other government
departments in spending a lot of money
in their casual budgets. I’m just letting
you know that’s a good thing.

My last question is going to be overall,
you lapse about 30 percent of your
budget. I know you talked about lack of
staff and a few other things during that
period. Were there any other contributing
factors toward the 30 percent lapse of
funding? Thank you.

Chairperson: Ms. Inutiqg.

Ms. Inutiq: It was largely vacancies in
the office, including the director’s
position, which was vacant from January
until the end of the fiscal year. That was
the largest contributor. When you have
vacancies, there is less work on projects.
As you know, | had to move over some
of the projects we had hoped to do to
other years, partly to focus on finishing
the systemic investigation, but also due to
the vacancies. When you work on
projects, there are more costs associated.
Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutiq.
That’s it for you? Mr. Mikkungwak, |
understand you have another question.
An Hon. Member: No, he doesn’t.
>>[ aughter

Chairperson: Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson for recognizing me again. |

appreciate that. I’ll get right into the nitty
gritty of it.
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On page 132, “April 2013, Reviewing job
descriptions to ensure there are bilingual
language requirements for vacant
positions,” I combined that with page
141, “Acrticle 23 of the Nunavut Land
Claims Agreement recognizes priority
hiring of Inuit and Inuit language
speakers. We recommend the Department
of Finance create a policy related to
hiring including consideration for the
preferred hiring of persons with the
ability to communicate in French and
English as a second priority.”

I understand on the follow-up portion that
your office, in collaboration with the
Department of Finance, create a policy.
Seeing that a number of MLAS have
brought up Article 23 in the House and
that we are now in the 2015-16 fiscal
year, have you already met with the
Department of Finance? Is that policy
being created as we meet today? Is it
ongoing? When do you anticipate the
finalization? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Inutig.

Ms. Inutiq: As far as | understood, our
office has received the draft guidelines.
As far as | understood, it was near to
finalizing. | have not received an update
on when they anticipate the guidelines
will come into effect within the GN. It
just says that they will review their
human resource policies and guidelines
this fiscal year. | have not asked for an
update on the status of that to date. Thank
you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig.
Mr. Mikkungwak, your final question.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you. When do
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you anticipate following up on that and
when do you anticipate a policy being
created? By the end of this fiscal year or
by the end of 2016? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. That’s my last question.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. I think she sort of
answered that, but I’ll pass it over to Ms.
Inutiq once again.

Ms. Inutiq: I can. It’s something that I
can check on after in the next little while
just to get an update on what’s happening
with both the guidelines and the review
of the human resource policies. It wasn’t
within my radar in the next little while,
but it can be if the Members feel that it is
important. Thank you, Ms. Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Inutig. |
think we look forward to that
information. If you can pass that onto us,
it would be great.

Before I wrap this up, | better ask if there
are any more questions for the Languages
Commissioner and if not... . Really? Mr.
Joanasie wants to ask one question. Mr.
Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. This is
primarily a clarification request as well as
a question on the status of your
investigations. You said that you did six
investigations and one was said to be
inadmissible. If you look on page 30 in
the Inuktitut version, it states that the
concern was inadmissible. I believe the
English version has that on page 150,
where a person wanted to communicate
with a hamlet in the English language.

They were asked to translate the
correspondence into Inuktitut for the
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hamlet and they submitted a concern that
English is a recognized language within
Nunavut. Therefore, the hamlet had no
authority to ask for translation of the
correspondence into Inuktitut. If |
understand it, perhaps it’s due to the fact
that the Inuit Language Protection Act
provisions have not all been enacted to
date.

Your office can’t do anything about that,
but what did the hamlet say? Did they
end up corresponding only in English?
My question is: what was the result or
what was the outcome of this after you
investigated that concern? What was the
result or outcome from this? Let me first
ask that question. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. I’m just smiling at you
now.

>>[ aughter
Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): Yes, | spoke
to this concern about the English
language service request to the hamlet
and that we couldn’t handle that
complaint, as we are only tasked with
looking into lack of Inuktut language
service provision presently.

Once the (interpretation ends) cabinet
(interpretation) provides a directive
authorizing that could we conduct
investigations for complaints about
English and French services, we would
then be able to request compliance.
Currently, the only applicable part of the
legislation applies to communities and
provision of Inuktut language services.
Due to that, our recommendations
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b 5A.NDC ANCN®BCDLL oS Hbe bd® o™
bLM¥@ **"a tNJS, AobDE ANCNSOCH>ILYDLC
bLM¥*a SN J.

FoDAC PPl 4P AAYLPNe oa < >d<
A NS PAANDS AMNALES,
G®PeAACLPNE PY<o Sb>ANPTQ G5 DS
Nc>AN<sb*aPC Sb=Ha NI PAAND L.
Lo <D%DIINULLE oo H*L%® A obDC
DSb>PSTe AMCNASbsa®. CAL®Wo™L.o¢ CAL
<Dcdy>¢
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included one to the Minister to request
that further directives be enacted to
determine which communities will offer
services in which languages.

I’m not too sure if | responded to the
Member’s question. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Did she answer your
question, Mr. Joanasie?

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Although I
don’t want the name of the individual, the
person who wanted to communicate with
the hamlet in English was told to
translate their document into Inuktitut.
What was the outcome of this? Have you
never done an investigation? The hamlet
requested documents to be translated into
Inuktitut, but you said this was an
inadmissible concern because the hamlet
falls outside of their jurisdiction. Do you
know what the outcome of this was? I’'m
trying to clarification as to whether they
got the translated versions of the
document? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Inutiq.

Ms. Inutiq (interpretation): We never
checked to see what happened with the
correspondence that caused the
disagreement or whether the hamlet
ended up corresponding with them in just
English or not. I don’t know. When we
found out it was an inadmissible concern
and that we could not deal with it, I told
the Deputy Minister that we won’t be
able to investigate that just for their
information. Thank you, Ms.
Chairperson.

ABC>2% gD bLN<d“od Coda™L
4®P AN e LUAS ac<b oa cc
ARCNNADbD®DE ac<d®a® PbPro®.

P>RG HPL® Coa. bNLN. sdyal™®, ASYRD>Cse,

A/ RUCS®: sdboal®, M AN, PHLDAS, D
<dar?

ddar: A, Acb CA%a Pa P AL
Sb>NLJLE*NCS. PP<lo SbaNDJse Db
ADPLEGSLE Yo CNC>ceNCNN<cyse
Sb.oNMP<LD**N*aGA“Ho. PY<o CAbI
H<tc_bd® ot NNG®CAT*NC. CAL®

DDA Sb/egbt PR 5 PJo<dJC
Sb>ANC DY DI M /? CAbI H<bc bd<
DYGeaGHSLC Aot NI®Do® NNStbo
celLesLs, PPdo Coa

AFLDBNPYD>od® alLesPeaGse/LLS/Db
SN I aACT TP . DR S
ASINPRLEGeDZDY, PJa<IJC SbD>ANC DSe/LA
breoSL*LC b aNIIL® NNSebo
<DseANe, PR HEFC AoNI“H CAPI
H<tc bde NNb®CEan Q2 DPZLALIL
CLEALe*LE, sdyeal™, ASYPC®,

Ab/RUCSe: sdbeal®, MD Jdar. M AN,

ABNSe: DPYa seldc P >*NCDJC SboAcSL*LC,
NN®HAC ALDYILNC Sbe5a. NI A%asL*LC
SOD>ALENCS. SbD>ANP QL NCDC o 5 > LLC
DSbD>PS o [ DSHPNILIYS Acb D
C*a SbP>aNPea > bd Sb>NLSI< 5.
sgyeal™®, ASYRDCe,
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Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Inutig. Are you done? (interpretation
ends) If there are no more questions, |
would like to take this time to thank you,
commissioner, for spending your time
here with us today. Do you have any
closing comments that you would like to
make? No? Okay. Well, thank you very
much and | thank all the Members for
their excellent questions. We will see you
back here at nine o’clock tomorrow
morning. Thank you.

>>Committee adjourned at 16:34

APYPCS: SdLal™® ™ ABNS, ALASPC?
OLANUC) dA®INCSbPeGSvdSLE, Lea
sdyealPLRNC DSb>YcnosIC bliYaboNe
CL&bNNY*Q GCGENJE. LD7<NbPLAC?
Sdbal dBYNCE <L bNLACLE Sdy*al se<bh
AA®INTHENSHEC LY. CdNbbeo¢_ N SJC
S 9:00-_I<®<E P bdl. Sgyeq .

MONLo™® o®h®>® 16:34-
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